Report of the Technical Meeting of

Building School Partnership for Health, Education Achievements and Development

Vancouver, Canada 5-8 June 2007





© World Health Organization 2007

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization can be obtained from WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel.: +41 22 791 3264; fax: +41 22 791 4857; e-mail: <u>bookorders@who.int</u>). Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications – whether for sale or for noncommercial distribution – should be addressed to WHO Press, at the above address (fax: +41 22 791 4806; e-mail: permissions@who.int).

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	7
Background	7
Historical development and evidence	
Rationale for a Technical Meeting and a Meeting Statement	
Purpose of the meeting	8
Objectives of the meeting	
Outcomes of the meeting	
Dates and location	
The Meeting Organizers	
Participants	
MEETING PROCEEDINGS	
Opening Remarks	
Group Photos	
Opening Keynote Session	
KEYNOTE PRESENTATIONS	11
Keynote Presentation 1	
Building school partnership for health, education achievements and development	
– The health perspective	
Presenter: Claude Rocan, Public Health Agency of Canada	
Keynote Presentation 2	13
Building School Partnership for health, education achievements and development –	
the Education Perspective	
Presenter: Charuaypon Torranin, Ministry of Education, Thailand	
TRACK ONE:	
Evidence of the effectiveness of School Health Promotion	14
Track 1: Plenary Session	
Evidence of effectiveness of School Health Promotion – implications for policy, prac	tice
and research	
Presenter: Lawrence St. Leger, Deakin University, Burwood, Victoria, Australia	15
Track 1: Session 1.1	16
Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion in Iran	16
Presenter: Nastaran Keshavarz, Qazvin Medical Sciences University, Iran	16
Track 1: Session 1.2	
Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion in Chile	17
Presenter: Judith Salinas, Ministry of Health, Chile	17
Track 1: Session 2.1	18
Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion in some Eastern	
Mediterranean countries.	
Presenter: Mostafa A. Abolfotouh, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt	. 18
Track 1: Session 2.2	
Evidence of the effectiveness of School health Promotion in China	19
Presenter: Cheng-Ye Ji, Peking University Health Science Centre, Beijing, China.	. 19
Track 1: Session 3.1	
Evidence-based school health promotion - social disaggregated data for planning,	
monitoring and evaluation	20

Facilitators: Lina Kostatova Unkovska, Institute for Development, Culture and You Initiatives Skopje, Macedonia, K C Tang, World Health Organization, Geneva	
TRACK TWO	21
Implementation of Health-Promoting School and other School Community Programme	
Track 2: Plenary Session	
Implementation of HPS and other school community programmes - an overview	
Presenter: Cheryl Vince Whitman, Education Development Center, Newton, MA, USA	. 22
Track 2: Session 1.1	
Anschub.de - Alliance for sustainable School Health and Education in Germany Presenter: Peter Paulus, Leuphana University of Lueneburg, Germany	. 23
Track 2: Session 2	24
Mainstreaming health promotion in education policies: notes from an experience in	
Uruguay	24
Presenter: Sergio Meresman, Consultant, Uruguay	
Track 2: Session 3	
A case study in Kenya: Action-oriented health education in the context of Kenyan	0
primary schools	. 25
Presenter: W. Onyango-Ouma, University of Nairobi, Kenya	
A Case Study in Cook Islands	
Presenter: Debi Futter-Puati, Ministry of Health, Cook Islands	
TRACK THREE	
The role of schools in alleviating social and economic disadvantages	27
Track 3: Session 1.1	28
The role of the school in health, learning and development in low-income countries	
Presenter: Lesley Drake, Partnership for Child Development	. 28
Track 3: Session 1.2	29
Schools as engines for development and health, a new way to promote community	
development within the framework of the social determinants of health for the	
achievement of the MDGs.	
Presenter: Sofia Leticia Morales, WHO/ PAHO	
Track 3: Session 2.1	30
Students in low income communities within high income countries.	. 30
Presenter: Wechsler Howell, Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, USA	
Track 3: Session 2.2	
Schools in low – income communities in Brazil	
Presenter: Regiane Rezende, Brazil	
Track 3: Session 2.3	
School health in schools serving Aboriginal communities and students	. 32
Presenter: Ted Amendt, Ag. Director, First Nations & Métis Education,	22
Saskatchewan Learning	
Track 3: Session 3.1.	
Using a Health Promoting School approach to reduce the risks from a contaminated	
environment in Kosovo after the Balkan conflict.	
Presenter: Ian Young, Head of International Development, NHS Health Scotland	
Schools in communities that have been disrupted by natural disasters Presenter: Professor Lorelei Cropley, University of New Orleans, USA	
Track 3: Session 3.3	

School role in the social reconstruction of the community in crisis – post conflict	
multiethnic, marginalized, impoverished	
Presenter: Lina Kostatova Unkovska, Institute for Development, Youth Culture and	
Initiatives - Skopje, Macedonia	. 35
TRACK FOUR	
Impact of the media on health behaviour of children and adolescents	36
Track 4: Plenary Session	37
The impact of media on health behaviour of children and adolescents	37
Presenter: Abdul-Halim Joukhadar, WHO/EMRO	37
Track 4: Session 1.1	
Existing regulations and legislation to limit advertising that may negatively influence	
children's behaviour – current practice and evidence of effectiveness.	38
Presenter: Ross Gordon, University of Stirling, Scotland, UK	38
Track 4: Session 2.1	39
Media literacy and health behaviour among children and adolescents	39
Presenter: Leonardo Mantilla, PROINAPSA, Colombia	39
Track 4: Session 3.1	40
How media and new communication technology can be used to enhance health	
literacy among children at school age	. 40
Presenter and collaborators: Vijaya K., Corporate Marketing and Communication	
Division, Thanarajah S., Resource Development Department; Tan V. New Media	
Unit, Health Promotion Board, Singapore	
TRACK FIVE	
Partnerships for promoting health and education for all school-age children	
Track 5: Plenary Session	
Partnerships for promoting health and education	42
Presenter: Donald Bundy, Human Development Network, The World Bank	42
Track 5: Plenary Session 2	
Current state of partnerships on School Health Promotion globally – Key partners ar	
their goals, roles, achievement to-date and future priorities.	
Presenter: Cream Wright, Global Chief of Education, UNICEF, New York	
Track 5: Plenary Session 3	
Current state of partnerships on School Health Promotion globally - Key partners an	
their goals, roles, achievements to-date and future priorities	
Presenter: K C Tang, World Health Organization	
Track 5: Plenary Session 4	
Current state of partnerships on School Health Promotion globally - Key partners ar	
their goals, roles, achievement to-date and future priorities.	
Presenting Organization: UNESCO	
Track 5: Session 1.1	
Equal access to quality education in Guatemala and El Salvador	
Presenter: Maria del Carmen Acena, Minister of Education, Guatemala	
Track 5: Session 1.2	
Partnerships for providing better access to basic education	
Presenter: Richard Maclure, University of Ottawa, Canada	
Track 5: Session 1.3	
Improved access to higher education for better health	
Presenter: KC Tang, WHO / Geneva	
Track 5: Session 1.4	49

Schools for Health in Europe: Partnerships for promoting health and education	
Presenter: Goof Buijs, NIGZ School Programme, Netherlands	
Track 5: Session 2.1	50
The Canadian experience	50
Presenter: Lesley Burgess, Department of Health, Newfoundland, Canada	50
Track 5: Session 2.2	51
The Indian experience	51
Presenter: Śwati Parmar, HRIDAY-SHAN, India	
FIELD VISIT	52
BRAEMAR ELEMENTARY	
STATEMENT	54
PROCESS	55
Schools for Health, Education and Development - A call for action	56
A ROUNDTABLE MEETING ON:	59
The Global Strategy on Diet, Physical activity and Health: A School Policy Framewor	
Plenary on Satellite Expert Roundtable on 'The Global Strategy on Diet, Physical	
Activity and Health: a School Policy Framework'	60
CLOSING REMARKS	
APPENDIX	
Appendix One - Programme	
Agenda	
Appendix Two – List of all participants	
Appendix Three - List of Chairpersons	

For the Power Point presentations, please go to: <u>http://ecs.edgeof.net/hpr/hpsvan/</u>

- 1. Type in your email address and password and click **Login** (tip: Check the box "Remember me" so that you won't have to complete this step every time)
- 2. If you have forgotten your password, click on Forgot password
- 3. Type in your email address and a link to reset your password will be sent to you by e-mail.
- 4. If you have forgotten both your username and password, email us at (blavoe@who.int)
- 5. To download the documents, click on the folder name that contains the document you want (i.e., "Track 1"). Then click on the document name. From the document information page that appears, click on "Download" (do not choose "check out"), and then follow your browser's instructions to open or save the document to your computer.

INTRODUCTION

Background

Historical development and evidence

In 1995, the World Health Organization (WHO) held a meeting with experts on Comprehensive School Health Education and Promotion. Based on the recommendations from the meeting and the experience of the European Network of Health Promoting Schools (HPS), established in 1992, the WHO launched the Global School Health Initiative to advance the HPS approach. Since then, HPS have been implemented in all six WHO Regions, and HPS networks have been established. At the Education for All (EFA) World Education Forum in 2000, major United Nations agencies agreed to harmonize actions around common elements in each of their approaches on school health, such as HPS and Child-Friendly Schools. UNESCO, UNICEF, WHO, the World Bank, as well as nongovernmental organizations came together to launch the Focusing Resources on Effective School Health (FRESH) framework. Other international agencies have joined as FRESH partners, including Education Development Center (EDC), Education International (EI), Partnership for Child Development (PCD), Save the Children, and World Food Programme (WFP). Additional international initiatives also address school health, such as EFAIDS (Education for ALL and HIV/AIDS education), IATT (UNAIDS Inter-Agency Task Team on Education), IUHPE (International Union on Health Promotion and Education) Evaluation Project, SCN (United Nations Standing Committee on Nutrition).

The push for advancing school health promotion continues. The school sections at the 18th IUHPE World Conference on Health Promotion and Education in 2004 in Melbourne, the 6th Global Conference on Health Promotion in 2005 in Bangkok, as well as the FRESH partners meeting in 2006 in Paris all have called for mechanisms and processes to coordinate efforts and share resources and experiences for making further progress on school health promotion. A WHO Secretary Report to the 2006 World Health Assembly called for immediate action to address the underlying socio-economic causes of poor health in schools.

Indeed, school health promotion has advanced in the past ten years. Many regions and countries have made progress in implementing school health initiatives. To date, there is convincing evidence of the effectiveness of school health initiatives in combating a number of communicable diseases, such as malaria and worm infections. There is also probable and possible evidence of the effectiveness of school health initiatives that address non-communicable diseases and risk factors, such as unhealthy diets, physical inactivity, tobacco consumption and harmful use of alcohol, mental health, violence as well as injuries. However, the successes in behavioural changes among students are only largely evidenced in high income countries. There is therefore an urgent need to translate available evidence into practice, particularly in low and middle income countries.

There is insufficient evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion initiatives in some areas, for example, reducing the gaps in health and academic achievements between students of lower and higher socio-economic backgrounds and mitigating the negative health impact of advertising through media. To attempt to narrow the inequity gaps, students of disadvantaged backgrounds must be given priority as target of interventions. Social and economic disaggregated data on health and academic achievements among different population groups must be made available for planning, monitoring and evaluation. Greater effort must also be made to promote media literacy and to use media for health literacy. There are also emerging issues confronting school health promotion, including appropriate responses to public health emergencies, natural disasters and conflict situations, and the influence of media which all warrant immediate attention.

Rationale for a Technical Meeting and a Meeting Statement

As stated, the concept of school health programmes has proliferated in the past ten years. There is a growing body of data and practitioner experience on the effectiveness of these many programmes. We needed to share the lessons learnt and determine processes to close the gaps, such as how to ascertain health and achievement gaps related to social and economic determinants of health.

The Technical Meeting on School Health was conceived to consolidate what has been learnt from regions' and countries' vast experiences since the Expert Committee meeting in 1995, and consider new global factors affecting schools. The Technical Meeting needed to provide direction and leadership to inform future strategies to respond more effectively to current and emerging challenges, including addressing social and economic determinants of student and staff health to improve learning outcomes and health and reduce inequities. The meeting also needed to advocate for building partnerships among the many players and to reach out to the health, education and development sectors for better health and education achievements and development.

Furthermore, there was a need to outline new research questions for the next decade and to set priorities to provide guidance for future policies and actions which respond most effectively to current challenges.

Purpose of the meeting

The purpose of the meeting was to set direction and provide leadership to meet future challenges in promoting health through schools, with a focus on addressing the wider determinants of health. The term "through schools" refers to involvements with students and their families, staff members in schools as well as interactions with the local communities. Where there are no schools, efforts must be made to establish schools and provide access to education.

Objectives of the meeting

The specific objectives of the meeting were:

- To review the current state-of-the-art in school health promotion and explore ways to translate evidence into policy and practice, particularly in low and middle income countries.
- To explore approaches that aim to address the wider determinants of health (including social and economic causes of poor health and negative media influences) and reduce health and education achievement gaps between students from low and high socio-economic strata.
- To derive strategic directions and recommendations for priority actions on promoting health, education achievements and development through schools and on building school partnership.

Outcomes of the meeting

- Technical papers and a meeting report
- A statement to advocate for building school partnerships, health and education achievements among children and adolescents, and development through better health and education

Dates and location

The 4-day technical meeting took place on June 5-8 2007 in Vancouver, Canada, preceding the 19th IUHPE World Conference on Health Promotion and Education.

The Meeting Organizers

The meeting was co-hosted by the WHO and the Pan Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health.

Participants

Some 80 colleagues were invited (see Appendix 2) including researchers, practitioners and policy makers in both the health and education sectors from countries of different levels of development. In addition, there were keynote speakers and staff members of the WHO, as well as observers from the local host, the International School Health Network and the ministries of health and education in selected countries.

MEETING PROCEEDINGS

Opening Remarks

The meeting was opened by Gordon Hogg, Minister of State for Act Now, British Columbia, Canada. He extended a warm welcome to all participants.

Group Photos



Opening Keynote Session

Dr. Sofia Leticia Morales of PAHO opened the key note session and elected the chairpersons and rapporteur. Dr Francisco Huerta, Executive Director of Convenio Andres Bello was nominated by PAHO to be the Chair. The Chairs elected for the parallel sessions of each track can be found in Appendix 3. The rapporteur were Ms. Faye Robinson, formerly intern, WHO, Mr. Eric Arnold, Public Health Agency of Canada, Dr. Washington Onyango-Ouma, University of Nairobi and Ms. Marlien McKay, New Brunswick Department of Wellness, Culture and Sport.

Dr Huerto went through the adoption of the programme, gave a briefing on the background and the objectives and expected outcomes of the meeting. Dr Huerto highlighted that this Technical Meeting is a review of state of the art School Health Promotion from around the world. He stated the importance of inter-sectoral alliances, the need to explore health determinants and that political backing is vital, as we are just Technicians. Also he explained that the whole school approach needs to engage teachers, students and parents. Strategic evidence is important in building best practice and recommendations for priority actions are required.

Dr Huerto then gave an introduction to the keynotes speakers as well as the proceedings of the opening keynote plenary.

KEYNOTE PRESENTATIONS

Keynote Presentation 1

Building school partnership for health, education achievements and development – The health perspective

Presenter: Claude Rocan, Public Health Agency of Canada

The keynote address considers the health perspective to approaching school health. The meeting is identified as a unique opportunity to engage in dialogue and discussion, increase collective knowledge, and address issues of common concern. It is also an opportunity to build on a growing momentum towards greater collaboration in health and education.

School health is firmly situated within the sphere of health promotion and is linked to cross-sectoral efforts to address health and educational disparities within the broad social determinants of health. In Canada, the Public Health Agency of Canada is responsible for determining health promotion and healthy living strategies related to children and adolescents. These investments are built on research supporting the idea that health promotion can lead to significant improvements in population health by emphasizing prevention rather than treatment. Much effort is focused on addressing health disparities.

Health promotion must aim to reduce differences in health status among different populations and ensure equal opportunities and resources for better health outcomes. This enabling approach seeks to provide people with the ability to make healthy choices and generally take greater control over those things that determine their health.

Initiatives undertaken include the Pan-Canadian Healthy Living Strategy, which aims to address some of the root causes that lead to poor health outcomes; and the Joint Consortium for School Health, which acts as a catalyst in strengthening cooperation across governments and in building the capacity of health, education systems to work together. Currently, the Agency is collaborating with WHO in developing a School Policy Framework to facilitate the implementation of the WHO Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health.

Challenges and recommendations

- Address health and education disparities through the social determinants of health
- Empower people to make healthy choices and have greater control over things that determine their health
- Work towards more robust monitoring and evaluation mechanisms
- Share best practices for transferring knowledge and adapting it to the different social, cultural, linguistic and economic circumstances of children around the world
- Refocus and re-energize efforts in building school partnership for health, education achievements and development

Keynote Presentation 2

Building School Partnership for health, education achievements and development – the Education Perspective

Presenter: Charuaypon Torranin, Ministry of Education, Thailand

Dr. Torranin, the Permanent Secretary for Education in Thailand investigated building partnerships from an education perspective. The following areas were looked at:

- 1. Global Trends and Issues in Education.
- 2. Education and Health Partnership
- 3. Global and Regional Partnership
- 4. National and Local Partnership
- 5. Thailand Showcase
- 6. Active Partnership

The presentation explained how schools have a powerful influence on school and community health and how health and education have a symbiotic relationship. To make the most of global partnerships such as the FRESH initiative, the functions and mandate of each organization must be understood and a coordinator appointed to oversee all available programmes and projects. At regional level, there must be regional standards and benchmarks and research conducted into common health issues. At national level to strengthen the partnership, key stakeholders must be identified, which primarily include the Ministry of Education and the Ministry of Public Health. However, the formal partnership must be inclusive of all stakeholders, have clear, transparent goals and best practice sharing.

At local level, the "whole school approach" is vital, as schools are the "core social centres" for community-based development. Students must feel they have a sense of ownership in the life of the school and teachers should be encouraged to use diverse teaching and learning strategies. The university can serve as the headquarters of the educational network and act as consultants and educators for improving schooling for children in at risk-communities.

Dr. Torranin then showed the Thailand partnership model, which demonstrated that cross Ministerial co-operation is important for putting health issues on the national agenda so that child health issues are prioritized. This must be backed up by good research evidence so that the necessary action can be taken. Finally, the characteristics and key elements of active partnerships and networks were stated and also risks and pitfalls to be wary of.

Challenges and Recommendations:

- Develop policies, legislation and guidelines using best practice to ensure the identification, mobilization and co-ordination of resources at the local, national and international level.
- Expand investment in schooling at all levels and expand the educational participation of girls.
- Value teachers and school staff and provide them with the necessary support to enable them to promote health.
- Build international support for health promotion in schools so Ministers maximize their efforts in supporting it.

TRACK ONE: Evidence of the effectiveness of School Health Promotion

Track 1: Plenary Session

Evidence of effectiveness of School Health Promotion – implications for policy, practice and research

Presenter: Lawrence St. Leger, Deakin University, Burwood, Victoria, Australia

The Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion identified eight essential prerequisites for health. Education is one of them. Four determinants of health were also identified in the presentation, viz. biological, behavioural, environmental and social.

Schools are limited in what can do to affect the health and well being of young people. However there is a substantial body of evidence derived from the research and evaluation literature of the last 30 years that shows how schools can be effective in school health initiatives, particularly the evidence about what works, what doesn't and under what circumstances. The presentation summarized what the evidence tells us.

For example, there is convincing evidence that the following health issues can be addressed through schools: nutrition, physical activity, sexuality, drugs, and mental health. There is also evidence about the effectiveness of whole school approaches (including Health Promoting Schools and Coordinated School Health) and quality practice guidelines.

There is evidence for various processes that work:

- Ensure there is continuous active commitment and demonstrable support by governments and relevant jurisdictions.
- Establish all the elements and actions as core components to the working of the school.
- Seek and maintain credibility for HPS both within and outside the school.
- Communities need active expectation that schools will promote the health of their children.
- Ensure there is time and resources for appropriate staff development.
- Review and refresh after each 3-4 years.
- Continue to ensure adequate resources.
- Maintain a coordinating group to oversee and drive the HPS with continuity of some personnel and the addition of new personnel.
- Ensure that most of the new and ongoing initiatives involve most of the staff, students, and families in consultation and implementation.
- Ensure monitoring services in the education sector view health promotion as an integral part of the life of the school and it is reflected in the monitoring indicators.
- Designate a trained lead person with adequate release time.
- Publicise successes and progress with students, staff, parents and the community.
- Ensure monitoring services in the health sector view student learning and success as an integral part of health promotion and it is reflected in the monitoring indicators.

The presentation also identified the gaps in the evidence and the issues for both the health and education sectors in using the evidence to shape policy and practice. The presentation concluded with an identification of the action priorities for the next 10 years:

- Increase collaboration between the health and education sectors in planning, implanting and evaluating school health promotion.
- Improve the dissemination of the evidence of effectiveness to schools.
- Establish more realistic expectations for school health promotion.
- Build a stronger evidence base on effective school health promotion approaches in low income countries.

Track 1: Session 1.1

Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion in Iran

Presenter: Nastaran Keshavarz, Qazvin Medical Sciences University, Iran

The presentation focused on the long history Iran has with school health and the contemporary challenges it has faced in developing effective school health practices. In school health research there is an inadequate diversity of perspectives such as an educational or parental perspective, as well as inadequate knowledge about schools as organizations or systems. Particularly relevant to Iran, there is also inadequate knowledge about school health in non-English speaking and/or low-income countries. The limitation of defining what constitutes evidence often excludes valuable knowledge and experiences that can contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of school health.

Current school health implementation in Iran faces a number of challenges; however there have also been a number of successes. The passing of supportive legislation on school health promotion provided more resources and support for schools. Collaboration between the education and health sectors successfully facilitated the sharing of these limited resources towards improved school health outcomes.

There have been difficulties faced from the invasion of Iran in 1981 by Iraq up until current economic sanctions. Even so, school attendance has risen dramatically over the past 30 years to the point where 98% of eligible students are attending primary school. The health system in Iran is also effectively organized so that universities are responsible for health and they oversee an integrated primary health care system divided between rural district and urban metropolitan networks.

Iran is one of the first countries to have a Department for School Health (established in 1935) and has continued to demonstrate its progress in this area. Current school health promotion targets disadvantaged children aged 6-18 in rural areas and focuses on nutrition and reproductive health. These are important areas of focus as anemia can be a generational problem, especially for girls in high school where iron deficiency has a prevalence of nearly 50%. Sex education around HIV/AIDS also leads to a sustainable education. Pilot projects are underway that provide free milk and iron supplements to 90% of intermediate and high school girls. In some areas, students are being trained as health promoters through a collaborative initiative by the health and education sectors. Engaging and empowering students in this way has proven to be effective for greater participation.

Challenges and recommendations

- The need for evidence demonstrated through indicators and process, taking into account historical and socio-economic factors
- Engaging and empowering students through active participation
- The need to address mental health early on (primary school), as it needs to be regarded as important as physical health
- Need to address the high prevalence of sedentary behavior, underscoring the need to promote physical activity in schools (40% of students suffer from malnutrition and another 40% are overweight/obese)
- An emerging issue is increased tobacco use (water pipe), especially for girls.

Track 1: Session 1.2

Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion in Chile

Presenter: Judith Salinas, Ministry of Health, Chile

The presentation examined Health Promotion policy, design and implementation of School Health Promotion (SHP) strategy in Chile since 1998. The implementation model of the SHP strategy in Chile takes the approach of public policies being implemented through local intervention. Development of the SHP strategy began 10 years ago and there have been many advances over this short period of time.

Evidence supporting the SHP strategy is steadily increasing. The Ministry of Health has undertaken studies on the Systemization of Intervention Models (2001) and on the Evaluation of Health Promotion (1998-2006). Both studies found that Health Promoting Schools were important and should be considered as a priority. However, it was found that there was difficulty in progressing on factors associated with culture and lifestyles.

The Ministry of Education / National Association for School Assistance and Scholarships (JUNAEB) is also responsible for two programs related to school health, the Skills for Life Program (SLP) and the Healthy Schools for Learning Program (HSLP). Both programs have evaluations that provide important social evidence and indicators on development.

There are also a few pilot projects supporting healthy schools. One project, in Casablanca, is a project focused on physical activity and healthy eating that has quantitative evaluation with positive results. The project is now being tested in other municipalities. Other projects that show promise focus on raising awareness and addressing risk behaviors.

Chile is currently developing a National Commission on Social Determinants. The objective is to incorporate Health Promoting Schools with a focus on vulnerable communities. The Commission is part of the Presidential Cabinet, as one of the government's priorities is the protection of children.

Challenges and Recommendations

- Strengthen national mechanisms of coordination and effective intersectoral work with the educational sector.
- Build a policy to promote health and quality of life in schools.
- Use advocacy so as to enable the different sectors to recognize health as a development and learning capacity indicator.
- Generate process and results evaluation with indicators and instruments that allow the measurement of the effectiveness of the interventions in HPS.
- Contribute to the installment of a Social Protection System based on Children's Rights to grow up with equal opportunity to develop themselves, to be healthy and happy.

Key comments

- Evidence comes from diverse sources, which needs to be identified.
- Policy makers require quantitative data for measuring success which can often be difficult in health promotion.
- The program component of school health needs to be considered from the education perspective, not just for the benefits of the health system.

Track 1: Session 2.1

Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion in some Eastern Mediterranean countries.

Presenter: Mostafa A. Abolfotouh, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt

This presentation investigates the criteria which aim to demonstrate the effectiveness of school health promotion. Such criteria include; whether bureaucracy in schools is minimized, if there is increasing participation of pupils, schools staff, parents and governors in school health, if degree of national consistency is maximized and finally whether there is rigor of judgement of healthy school status. Examples of guidance for gathering the evidence are stated, for example; evidence must be gathered from a broad range of players in the school community by conversation, questionnaire, focus groups so all evidence is triangulated.

Trials of how to implement School Health Promotion through different school health initiatives are investigated in a selection of Eastern Mediterranean countries including Egypt, Afghanistan, Saudi Arabia and Oman. Some important issues concerning school health promotion are highlighted such as; who is the provider of the program? Which is better insured or non-insured health services? School health services/programs? Which to apply Partnership / Cooperation /or Integration? What to strengthen more Preventive / or curative services? Is the school entry comprehensive examination cost – effective in the region? And is the student hospital a necessity for the school health program?

Finally Mostafa Abolfotouh discusses how schools can narrow the educational achievement gaps between different culture and ethnic groups. This can be done by using an intentional curriculum which supports teachers. The curriculum must be developmentally appropriate, be responsive to cultural diversity and emphasize the active engagement with children and promote positive peer and teacher interactions.

Challenges and Recommendations

- Increase the participation of the whole school community, so the school can be used as an effective setting for preventive and curative services.
- Build up the number of partners in School Health Promotion and improve their co-ordination, especially in Saudi Arabia.
- Expand research in common health problems and disorders in the region.
- Increase investment in schools to reduce the shortage of resources, which vary from needing chalk boards to creating sewage systems.
- Improve access to schools, particularly in the marginalized, isolated rural communities.

Track 1: Session 2.2

Evidence of the effectiveness of School health Promotion in China

Presenter: Cheng-Ye Ji, Peking University Health Science Centre, Beijing, China.

This presentation collected and analyzed evidence concerning the effects of comprehensive school health interventions in China. The strength of evidence was graded to determine whether it was strong or weak and thus ensure the healthy development of School Health Promotion.

The 10 main health problems of Chinese students were investigated which include de-worming, malnutrition, obesity, smoking, HIV/AIDS, physical exercise, myopia, injury prevention, mental health and tuberculosis. Evidence was collected on interventions that were tackling these 10 target health problems by searching websites for all the Chinese and English publications from October 1999 to May 2007. The articles were categorised and only those directly related to School Health Promotion were selected.

The strength of evidence was graded by using three criteria: a) the degree of association between intervention and outcome factors, b) consistency of findings in different studies and c) whether there is a known cause-effect mechanism for the intervention under study and the outcome factors.

There was convincing evidence of the effectiveness of interventions in combating worm infections and preventing malnutrition. There was probable evidence of effectiveness in the obesity and HIV /AIDS interventions and possible evidence in the tobacco control interventions. However there was limited evidence of effectiveness in the tuberculosis prevention, prevention of injury, physical activity, mental health and myopia control interventions.

Challenges and Recommendations

- Improve the quality of school health education by enhancing the teacher's delivery of lessons so they are more student orientated and encourage pupils to take an active role in the lesson and activities.
- Transfer successful pilots to across the whole country, such as the de-worming and the prevention of malnutrition programs.
- Develop indicators for measuring the level of participation of parents and the mass media in school health programs.
- Consolidate efforts where there are no interventions or lack of models of best practice, for example in mental health and the prevention of myopia.
- Increase collaboration and co-ordination between the Ministry of Health and Ministry of Education so efforts and resources are maximised in order to reach optimal health and educational achievements.

Track 1: Session 3.1

Evidence-based school health promotion - social disaggregated data for planning, monitoring and evaluation

Facilitators: Lina Kostatova Unkovska, Institute for Development, Culture and Youth Initiatives Skopje, Macedonia, K C Tang, World Health Organization, Geneva

Currently, the focus of most of the national and international survey data on school-age children is on health behaviour. Very limited social and economic disaggregated data are available.

To reduce inequities in health and education achievements among children and adolescents, the collection, analyses and use of Social and economic data relevant to health, on a disaggregated basis, are very much in needed, to make the application of the evidence based approach feasible for the design, implementation, evaluation and monitoring of equity driven and outcome focused school health programmes.

This group session aimed to ascertain the need to set up such databases and to identify what type of data is currently available and what type of data is needed.

The session was well attended. The lack of data on risk behaviour by socio-economic status was acknowledged and there appeared a consensus among the participants on the need for quality social and economic data for strengthening the adoption of the evidence-based approach to school health promotion to tackle the social and economic causes of poor health. There were also suggestions of collecting those data through existing surveys such as the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children Survey (HBSC) and the Global school-aged student health survey (GSHS). It appeared that HBSC has already made attempts to collect, collate and analysis social and economic data relevant to health condition and behaviour. To have a clear picture of what type of data is currently available and is needed, more time and expertise in quantitative surveys were required. A number of challenges and recommendations were made.

Challenges and Recommendations:

- Identify ways to overcome the difficulties in surveying children to ensure validity and trustworthiness
- Strength the capacity of the school and health promotion communities to collect, collate, analyse and use of social and economic data on a disaggregated basis
- Examine whether or not different set of survey questions (and responses to the questions) are required due to the different social and economic context of the countries
- Make concerted effort among experts at the global, regional, national and local levels
- Build upon existing surveys

TRACK TWO

Implementation of Health-Promoting School and other School Community Programmes

Track 2: Plenary Session

Implementation of HPS and other school community programmes - an overview

Presenter: Cheryl Vince Whitman, Education Development Center, Newton, MA, USA

We conducted a review of the literature on implementation research and recruited people from a total of 17 countries in all six WHO regions to write case studies. We analyzed the cases according to a framework of "Key Factors in Changing Policy and Practice:" Vision & Concept; International & National Guidelines; Champions & Leaders at all Levels; Administrative and Management Support; Data-Driven Planning & Decision Making; Team Training & Ongoing Coaching / Learning Community; Critical Mass & Supportive Norms; Dedicated Time & Resources; Attention to External Forces; Adaptation to Local Concerns; Mechanisms for Cross-Sector Collaboration; Stage of Readiness; Stakeholder Ownership & Participation.

The cases describe experiences at different levels of education, implementing different components, and reaching from relatively small to much larger numbers of schools and students.

Insight and Learning: What effectively supported implementation

- Impetus for action were: data about health or education outcomes; recognition of the link between health and education; globalization and its challenges; economic or other hardships; recognizing schools as sites for remediation and services; influence of international guidelines such as WHO/FRESH guidelines
- Advocacy, champions and leadership: leadership, commitment and political will was necessary from government, key officials in health and/or education to make a start; when municipal support was lacking, principal leadership was very helpful
- Vision and concept: leaders had a vision of multiple components of HPS
- Stakeholder ownership & participation included ministry, school & community, students
- Mechanisms for cross-sector collaboration: despite many barriers, all achieved collaboration; Ministry of Health often began, eventually made partnership with Education
- Professional development and tools: tools were invaluable in the process of implementation; staff development and teacher training to implement multiple components and curriculum were some of the weakest strategies
- Tracking & Monitoring: measuring national capacities in place; schools meeting criteria for HPS award; child health indicators; changes in surrounding school environment

Recommendations and challenges

- Conduct and publish further implementation research: develop key research questions, analyze by the size of the countries (large/small), include a diversity of countries/cultures
- Advocacy at political level is crucial
- Cross-sectoral collaboration needs shared ownership with clear delineations, ideally educators take a lead, expand collaboration to many sectors
- Health is constructed socially and culturally; intervention strategy is context-dependent

Track 2: Session 1.1

Anschub.de - Alliance for sustainable School Health and Education in Germany

Presenter: Peter Paulus, Leuphana University of Lueneburg, Germany

This presentation explained the structure of a new and big programme for school health promotion and education in Germany from the national level, regional level and then school level. At national level, Germany has an alliance of more than fifty partners including state ministries of education, health etc. but in 2008, the alliance will turn into an association. This will ensure the organization of partners is more formal, thus providing a more sustainable umbrella for school health and education. The quality dimensions of a good school were shown in a comprehensive model. This quality concept is called the SEIS or "Self Evaluation in Schools." To assess schools, questionnaires are given to head of schools, teachers, non-teaching staff, students and parents. All the evidence is triangulated and feedback is given back to the schools. It is vital that the cyclical process of planning, doing, checking and acting is pursued so improvements to school continually made. For each of the dimensions of educational quality in addition to educational indicators health indicators were presented. These indicators indicate if schools have initiated health interventions to improve educational quality of the school. Health is seen in this model as an input or throughput factor instead of an output or outcome. To improve education with or through health is the new perspective in that model. Indicators where shown on how e.g. effective learning and teaching strategies can be improved by health interventions. For example the room layout and timetable should be created with health-promoting principles in mind so there is a fresh air supply in rooms and time for refreshments in breaks. The leadership and management process -another quality dimension of a good school- was explored at length. Staff Development was one of the topics. One of the indicators in that area is, how far the school administration is aware of work-related physical and psychological pressures on the staff, and implements measures to keep them to a minimum. Finally the climate and culture of a good and healthy school was seen as important component. For example it is emphasized that schools must make sure that all members (pupils, staff and parents) are given the opportunity to participate in "health circles," where they can improve school health.

Challenges and Recommendations in implementation and dissemination:

- Encourage paradigm shift of promoting education through health (and not health as an outcome) to ensure better outcomes and sustainability
- Encourage schools not to view health as an additional topic.
- Involve students and parents in planning and implementing activities for good and healthy schools.
- Participation of pupils in the communication strategy is important.
- Co-operation of partners on regional level especially is vital, as there is sometimes competition and blocking of each other.
- Ensure that quality indicators (educational and health indicators) for good and healthy schools are context-driven

Track 2: Session 2

Mainstreaming health promotion in education policies: notes from an experience in Uruguay

Presenter: Sergio Meresman, Consultant, Uruguay

This presentation explored the implementation of Education for Life and Environment (or Educación para la vida y el ambiente/EVA) and Inclusive Education projects in more than 250 primary schools in Uruguay between 2002 and 2004. The program was part of a comprehensive strategy to improve its basic education system and used resources provided by the World Bank. Resources provided to schools (through a small grants strategy) were meant to benefit quality education in general, not just health and inclusion objectives. They included:

- Technical assistance to formulate, implement and evaluate theme or problem-based projects identified by the school community.
- Specialised technical assistance to build capacity of the teachers, mobilise the school community and promoting healthy environments and lifestyles.
- Assistance in the development of the course syllabus and educational material for the courses selected by the schools.
- School infrastructure renovation and development to create healthier, safer and friendlier environments.
- Participation in a network of exchanges of experiences and material, including a bi-monthly electronic newsletter and two annual retreats.

Challenges and Recommendations

- 1. Mainstreaming health promotion into general educational policy: the project was not an independent strategy but rather part of the general strategy of the education sector to improve basic education.
- 2. Education ownership: A clear standing point was to be aware of ownership factors and strive to place the ownership of the project at the heart of the Uruguayan National Administration for Public Education, schools, teachers and students.
- 3. Autonomy and sustainability: The decentralized use and management of the resources provided by the component was in many cases one of the first experiences for the school community of being able to make autonomous decisions and commit to a plan for achieving results on the basis of their own vision, strategies and skills. This in itself was an empowering experience and a institutional strengthening tool that enriched the school community's social capital
- 4. Participation: Implementing participatory approaches to health in schools is still one of the biggest stalemates. Although teachers agree in principle with the concept of active education and participative approaches and the large majority of kids are keen to the idea of expressing their wishes, concerns and creativity, institutional inertia is in a way unbreakable. In this project, a range of specific opportunities for children involvement in activities of educational value was provided, such as:
 - $\circ\,$ Producing a situation analysis of school and community through consultation with other children and the community
 - o Mapping issues affecting health and well-being through problem trees
 - $\circ\,$ Identifying things that can be changed in their school and planning strategies for change

Track 2: Session 3

A case study in Kenya: Action-oriented health education in the context of Kenyan primary schools

Presenter: W. Onyango-Ouma, University of Nairobi, Kenya

This presentation describes how Kenya has adopted a Danish model of Health Promoting Schools with a strong emphasis on building up action competency and vision. It is a shift moving away from just fighting diseases to positive health and a better quality of life for students.

Action experiences in learning are emphasized, as they positively affect decisions and change perspectives. They also facilitate change, which goes beyond the school setting and into the home and community. As such, communities see schools as agents of change. Schools need to adopt an action-oriented and participatory approach to health education. Doing so encourages student participation and an increased sense of ownership leads to a greater commitment to learning. Such action experiences empower students to focus on their health and well-being in the long run.

Kenya's experiences indicated a need to manage teacher training and involvement. It is important to examine what health means to teachers, as many of them do not have the right skills to promote school health. It needs to be examined how learning health compares to learning math, for instance. In-service training enhances teachers' knowledge and commitment toward participatory/action-oriented learning. Continuous professional support strengthens teacher participation thereby enabling them to develop ownership.

Teachers need to relate to kids. Hierarchical relationships of power and authority need to be transformed into relationships of facilitation. Professional development of teachers should involve the transformation of teachers from authoritative adults to facilitators. This identifies a shift from a relationship of power/hierarchy to one of collaboration. It needs to be made clear that training will not only aid teachers to improve classroom teaching but also motivate them to participation in school health education programmes.

Empowering students to make choices through participation removes some of the power from teachers. In the case study, the choices were limited to a predetermined area and the children decided on the development of the process. They had the capacity for more ground-level decision-making and when issues did arise, continuous professional support helped (e.g. how to run a health club).

Challenges and recommendations

- Children are not adults; they must learn as children and have fun. Students need to be involved in decisions on learning. School health is a learning process and this process should be democratic.
- Students need to be empowered and teachers need to be trained to facilitate this.
- Teacher training should not be added on as an extra task, but should be integrated into the job itself in order to avoid complications regarding funding and release time for teachers.
- Health needs to be approached from a learning perspective in school. Learning is the main activity in schools and health professionals need approach health activities from this perspective.
- Through active participation, children are encouraged to learn about and assert their rights.

Track 2: Session 4

A Case Study in Cook Islands

Presenter: Debi Futter-Puati, Ministry of Health, Cook Islands

With an alarming health status of youth in the Cook Islands in 2002, the Ministry of Education realised it needed to play a more central role. The Cook Island Health and Physical Well-being curriculum (CIHPWB) was developed between 2003 and 2005. To begin the curriculum development process, a definition of health was required and barriers to being healthy needed to be identified.

Using the results from the consultation process, health status statistics and an advisory committee, it was decided that five "Key Areas of Learning" would form the basis of the CIHPWB curriculum: Mental health, Sexuality, Food and nutrition, Body care and Physical Safety, and Physical activity. The curriculum has a health promotion philosophy linking it to Cook Islands culture, traditions and values through the use of a vaka to represent the four dimensions of health in the Ottawa Charter: Mental and Emotional, Physical, Spiritual, Social, plus an added fifth dimension: Environment.

As part of the implementation of the curriculum, the Ministry of Education and the Ministry of Health have been working closely together. It was a first for the Pacific, that a memorandum of understanding (MOU) was signed between the Ministry of Education and the Ministry of Health. This mutual agreement was fundamental in allowing the two ministries to collaborate on the project, fully utilizing the strengths of both organizations while also respecting the differences.

To facilitate program implementation a long term plan of teaching programs / units of work covering physical activity and health education topics were developed. This included the creation of specialised teacher resources such as a Health and Physical Education curriculum document and teacher planning resources. Physical activity levels increased in the pilot school as a result of this project and these increases have been sustained following program completion. The focus of the program was enjoyment, confidence building, full participation and skill development in physical activity and health education.

Challenges and Recommendations:

- Development of an in-country definition or concept of health is essential to ownership
- A consultation process is imperative to providing a rationale in what should be included in a Health and Physical Education curriculum document
- Use of traditional verses, analogies or concepts creates a cultural anchor for the curriculum
- Create understanding with teachers to the importance of health education so schools are motivated to adapt their timetables and practices.
- Support teachers and schools to start using new <u>content</u> and <u>pedagogical</u> strategies.
- Modeling and mentoring of best practice helps Pacific teachers to feel confident to try new ways.
- The Ministry of Health regards having a focal point in the Ministry of Education curriculum unit as imperative.
- Co-facilitating professional development meant that each Ministry began to appreciate and develop a respect for each other's role.
- A third party, such as WHO, can play a role in implementation and sustainability by providing up-to- date research, examples from other countries, professional development and capacity building
- Avoid implementing similar programs e.g. nutrition friendly schools and health promoting schools.

TRACK THREE

The role of schools in alleviating social and economic disadvantages

Track 3: Session 1.1

The role of the school in health, learning and development in low-income countries

Presenter: Lesley Drake, Partnership for Child Development

The presentation outline:

- Health and education benefits of School Health Network Programs (SHNPs) and their contribution to the achievement of EFA and the MDGs.
- The impact of HIV and AIDS in low income country settings.
- Challenges of implementing SHNPs in the low income country setting and in particular dealing with sustainability, costs and scale.

The health benefits of SHNPs in low income settings primarily addressed infectious diseases and statistics and graphs were given to show this. The educational benefits included increased enrolment, reduced absenteeism, reduced drop out and increased cognitive performance. The effect of de-worming on cognitive function had a very positive effect. In the pursuit of achieving EFA and the MDGS, the SHNPs enabled more children to access school, especially the last 10% of out of school children who were often the poorest and most vulnerable.

FRESH was identified as common framework for implementing successful SHNPs. This is a global partnership but it was also reiterated that partnerships on a local level are vital too. Such as effective community partnerships, especially between teachers and health workers. Zambia, Eritrea and Ghana were used as examples of SHNPs in low income countries. The three countries stated how they were addressing and responding to their challenges. It was highlighted how there are distinctive features of SHNPs in the context of low income countries as they have differing health issues and gender issues for example.

The cost of interventions per child for several infectious diseases were shown and the longer term benefits of investing in SHNPs calculated. School health and nutrition interventions can add 4 - 6 points to IQ levels, 10% to participation in schooling and 1 - 2 years of education. This scale of benefit can add 8 - 12% to labour returns and provide a rate of return that offers a strong argument for public sector investment.

Challenges and Recommendations:

- Effective sectoral leadership of SHNPs is needed.
- Effective co-ordination of all stakeholders must be carried out by Ministry of Health and Ministry of Education.
- Clear roles for all stakeholders including donors and implementers needs stating.
- Effective targeting of interventions is vital.
- Effective monitoring and evaluation is necessary to achieve best practice.

Track 3: Session 1.2

Schools as engines for development and health, a new way to promote community development within the framework of the social determinants of health for the achievement of the MDGs.

Presenter: Sofia Leticia Morales, WHO/ PAHO

It was highlighted how schools play a key role in community development. Schools are a vital component within the framework of the Social Determinants of Health which is a major contributor towards achieving the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). The MDGs are a set of targets and indicators bound by a specific time frame for completion (1990 – 2015). The MDGs recognize the interdependence of health and social conditions and offer an opportunity to develop health policies that address the social determinants to avoid human suffering arising from unjust social conditions.

An analysis was given of how schools are engines for development in relation to addressing the social determinants and promoting community transformation beyond the classroom walls. Collective actions from the educational community are important and these actions are capable of transforming the quality of life of the community. It was stated how youngsters who are in schools and universities are key players in the collective actions and also pedagogy of development. Local development can also be consolidated by creating partnerships between schools and health services. National, provincial and local networks of schools that promote development must first be created and consolidated before promoting international networks. Many examples are given from Central America of how schools are engines for development.

Track 3: Session 2.1

Students in low income communities within high income countries.

Presenter: Wechsler Howell, Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, USA

Poor and racial / ethnic minority children in the United States suffer from disparities in health and educational achievement. Causes of these health disparities and the educational achievement gap are discussed, with a special focus on the strong impact that educational achievement has on health status, independent of income levels.

Seven school health strategies were presented for alleviating social and economic disadvantage and improving health and educational attainment:

- Support evidence-based efforts to reduce the educational achievement gap.
- Implement effective school health programs.
- Promote collaboration across the health and education sectors.
- Promote a coordinated, whole school approach to school health.
- Address root causes of disadvantage such as lack of school connectedness.
- Implement effective out-of-school time programs.
- Promote family and community involvement.

Track 3: Session 2.2

Schools in low – income communities in Brazil

Presenter: Regiane Rezende, Brazil

The presentation gave an overview of Brazil and how it is South America's largest country, is rich in hydric resources and has the largest forest in the world, the Amazon. However there are inequities in social and health conditions, which have contributed towards huge health problems. For example 90% of urban homes and just 25% of rural homes receive water from general distribution, just 35% of water is treated and 60% of garbage has an inappropriate destiny. In some municipalities of the Amazonas, 90% of children and adolescents are in poor families, compared to less than 2% in some municipalities in Rio Grande do Sul. With regard to education, 6.1 years on average study is completed in Brazil. Virtually everyone enrols in school but just 84% finish elementary level and 57% finish fundamental level. Illiteracy is extremely high into the adult population.

Development, management and health models are investigated and how the models characteristics have influenced health and education. It was highlighted how in the contexts of accentuated economic and social inequality, there is an ethical obligation to promote human development. The role of education can promote human development through pedagogical processes of forming critical, ethical and political citizens. The challenges of health and education sectors working together to reach common goals are described. Also how the school must be recognized as a formal space where the educational process can take place but also it is an institutional, political and social space surrounded by culture. It is fundamental that health and educational sectors support sustainable strategies that minimize the effects of Social Determinants of health and promote health.

The presentation concluded by stating that health promotion considered as political and educational action must be assured by management and formation. Health promotion is an intrinsic element to educational and health sectors and it favours inter sectoral relations to benefit quality of life. Finally health and education form capable pillars that can lead to changes in communities and the promotion of health.

Challenge and Recommendations:

- Recognize that the process of the school in social transformation requires the breaking of paradigms (personal and social).
- Recognize the school as a space of construction of collective knowledge, capacity and practices.
- Promote the participation of children and adolescents in the decision making process of the school.
- Ensure the teaching and learning process is effective in developing the multiple dimensions of the student which include the social, biological, cognitive and affective.
- Develop inter-sectorial actions to overcome the challenges of poor health and education.

Track 3: Session 2.3

School health in schools serving Aboriginal communities and students

Presenter: Ted Amendt, Ag. Director, First Nations & Métis Education, Saskatchewan Learning

This presentation introduced the Saskatchewan experience, as well other promising practices across Canada addressing Aboriginal school health. The session highlighted the theme 're-inventing the wheel', as a way forward in addressing First Nations, Métis, and Inuit learners in school communities.

The themes identified in the presentation included:

- Cultural relevance
- Emerging from colonial past
- Identifying challenges
- Strength-based approaches and strategies

These lay the basis for ways forward in a comprehensive, coordinated approach to Aboriginal school health.

Evidence from the literature spoke to recognizing the family and community context, particularly when working with Aboriginal communities, as well as respecting language and culture. Working in partnership was cited as beneficial and examples provided of Community Schools, as well as partnerships between school divisions and First Nations. The importance of honouring the strengths and gifts within Aboriginal communities is imperative, with particular attention being paid to including Elders. There is a need to challenge assumptions when working with Aboriginal communities so systems identify and include community assets.

Challenges and Recommendations

- o Legacy of colonization and impact of residential schools.
- Effects of systemic racism.
- o Jurisdiction issues.
- Systems failing Aboriginal peoples.

Recommendations included:

- Consider supports in holistic ways.
- Work in collaboration with Indigenous peoples with a view to strengthening systems and supports cultural responsiveness.
- Continue to identify promising practices with proven success outcomes for Indigenous peoples.
- o Build capacity within systems to honour Indigenous Ways of Knowing.
- Develop anti-racism strategies, representative workforce strategies, policies that equally value Indigenous Ways of Knowing, and program responses designed with Indigenous peoples and communities.

Track 3: Session 3.1

Using a Health Promoting School approach to reduce the risks from a contaminated environment in Kosovo after the Balkan conflict.

Presenter: Ian Young, Head of International Development, NHS Health Scotland

The presentation outlined how the health promoting school (HPS) model played a strategic role in addressing the environmental contamination caused by heavy metals in Kosovo. The model also contributed to training events for teachers, health and environmental professionals which facilitated strategies to discuss the damaged human relationships, which resulted from the bitter conflict. A network of HPS was set up with the support of four government departments, a national co-ordinator and a national co-ordinating committee with all key stakeholders represented.

The HPS programme is at an early stage in Kosovo but it has made considerable progress over the last four years at approaching a highly specific problem, of raising awareness on how to live more safely in a contaminated environment. Its progress relates in part to schools being an excellent vehicle to reach the at risk target groups of children and pregnant mothers. In addition the parents, the children's environment and health services are accessible through schools. The whole school approach has used many strategies to reduce environmental exposure to lead and to minimize the effects of heavy metal exposure on the body. One example of the latter is through appropriate nutritional advice and food provision in schools, the risks of the anaemia associated with lead poisoning can be reduced. The activities in schools have also generated media coverage of the heavy metal pollution, which has helped reach more of the general population.

It was explained that this is not a short-term project but a sustained attempt to integrate education and health issues for the benefit of young people in Kosovo. There is much government support with a signed agreement between the relevant ministries being an indicator of potential for a sustainable development. Also under the overarching concept of HPS, there are related initiatives such as Child Friendly Schools and Life Skills with Violence Prevention and Mental Health Promotion being integrated into the strategy.

Challenges and Recommendations

- Increase investment to ensure all schools are able to improve their physical infrastructure and enable more training days for key stakeholders.
- Further develop and revise some of the indicators of success, as some appear modest e.g. "by 2017 all schools have drinking water and sanitation."
- Develop the health education curriculum so health is promoted further. Continue to raise awareness of heavy metal pollution through HPS so individual and community health improves.
- Continue to monitor blood lead levels and levels of pollution in the environment.
- Share the general lessons learned about the importance of the schools' role in a post conflict situation.

Track 3: Session 3.2

Schools in communities that have been disrupted by natural disasters

Presenter: Professor Lorelei Cropley, University of New Orleans, USA

This presentation focused on the challenges and opportunities in reopening New Orleans schools after a disaster through the perspective of a health professional, Professor Cropley. She also presented the lessons learned for pre and post disaster planning as related to schools.

After Hurricane Katrina caused unprecedented devastation and dislocation of individuals along the Gulf Coast in Louisiana, Mississippi and Alabama, Professor Cropley worked with refugee populations, as she herself became an evacuee (the preferred term by those affected by Hurricane Katrina). During her displacement and subsequent return to the city of New Orleans, Professor Cropley discovered interesting contrasts and similarities to her personal Katrina experience and her past relief experience that she shared during the presentation.

This presentation showed how Hurricane Katrina in New Orleans, the majority of public schools, already among the worst in the nation prior to the disaster, were damaged or destroyed and school system was in disarray. With eighty percent of the city flooded, there was a huge displacement of teaching staff and pupils. However after the disaster, an opportunity existed to improve the schools.

Despite enormous challenges schools were reopened, some within two months after the disaster. To reopen the schools, provisions had to be made for basic needs such as health and housing. As a result, trailers were situated at schools and universities and basic health needs, especially mental health, were met by on-site needs assessments and medical and psychosocial support. As soon as a school was opened, it filled with students. Advantages of reopening the schools were readily apparent: schools helped pupils refocus on education rather than the tragedy, schools empowered pupils to find resiliency skills, and schools drove the repopulation of neighbourhood. Schools found they had to be flexible after a disaster, for example, flexibility on uniform policies and school opening times as many parents were commuting two hours. Professor Cropley concluded that a school is better open, than perfect.

Challenges and Recommendations:

- Require pre disaster plans to be in place so the disaster will have less of an impact. For example, create communication plans, list evacuate locations and teach resiliency skills in schools.
- Create post disaster plans that include alternative ways of contacting pupils, parents and teachers after a disaster, planned re-entry activities, collaboration and coordination with outside agencies for relief efforts.
- Prioritize reopening schools, to drive neighbourhood's repopulation. This includes measures to provide for staff return.
- Use re-entry activities to address pupils' psychosocial issues such as loss.

Track 3: Session 3.3

School role in the social reconstruction of the community in crisis – post conflict multiethnic, marginalized, impoverished ...

Presenter: Lina Kostatova Unkovska, Institute for Development, Youth Culture and Initiatives - Skopje, Macedonia

After Macedonia gained independence in 1992, facing the challenge to carry out major economic and political changes the severe inter-ethnic conflicts took place in its neighbourhood and soon after on its own territory. These conditions contributed to an uncontrollable increase in the rate of unemployment, massive demolishing of national resources, inefficient protection of human and children's rights and the slowing down of the modest educational reforms.

The multiethnic Macedonian school struggled with the crisis. Lina explained how the multiethnic schools from the conflict regions were neglected, being overcrowded with up to 2000 students in each school and how teachers become overwhelmed by the conditions. Since the inter-ethnic tensions and violence in schools become the only response to the situation. Parents were afraid to send their children to school because schools become threatening, chaotic and violent places, which was affecting their children's psychological wellbeing, as well as teachers'.

In response to the crisis, a participatory action project on psycho-social assistance was created with cooperation of the Macedonian Bureau for Development of Education, supported by the Swiss Agency for Development and Co-operation. The aims of this Health Promoting School Project were to reduce the general insecurity felt by children, teachers and parents and to regain the lost confidence in the multi-ethnic character of the schools and the community, as well as to empower schools to take new roles in the community building. The Project steered the schools towards creation of new safe and stimulating "micro-environments" by encouraging pupils and teachers of various ethnic background for joint participation in the school and community promoting projects. The project views multiethnic school' community as competent participant in the creation of a new, dynamic social field of intercultural exchange, respect and tolerance in which narrow frames of "local" and "stereotypical" can be abandoned. The Project also set out to network schools from the post-conflict (multiethnic) region in the country with those from the Macedonian Health Promoting Schools Network, connecting as well rural with urban schools. The idea was to transform the positive practices into a development process of school health promotion that would command national and strategic interests. The Project key components were democracy building and children's rights approach to health promotion. At the end of the Project, the increasing number of schools (19) were connected in the network for inter-school project collaboration, which resulted in many positive changes in the schools and the community, throughout the country.

Challenge and Recommendations:

Increase the importance of the school key role in health, social and educational change in the community of prolonged crisis, suffering critical absence of community support / or understanding. Introduce more ways in which pupils and teachers can experience safe and stimulating environments through joint school promoting actions, to empower them to create and enjoy safe and healthy environments in their own neighborhoods, too. Further linking of system institutions is required and more sectors must form partnerships for sustainability of the school project achievements, as well as the improvement of the mechanisms for continual support and recognition for schools, teachers and pupils are needed. Improve policy decision making based on monitoring and evaluation of projects as this is often absent in communities at risk.

TRACK FOUR

Impact of the media on health behaviour of children and adolescents

The impact of media on health behaviour of children and adolescents

Presenter: Abdul-Halim Joukhadar, WHO/EMRO

This presentation looked at how the media and mass communication along with globalization are playing an ever-increasing role in contemporary life and are influencing lifestyles and consumption patterns. The homogenization of values and lifestyles among the younger generations in many regions of the world have led to the development of standardized global marketing campaigns. This has enabled multi-national corporations to pool huger resources for marketing research and advertisement. Accompanying this, there has been an upsurge in the use of psychological expertise and research to more effectively persuade children to want advertised products and to influence their parents to purchase these products (pester power).

Marketing approaches have become multi-faceted and sophisticated, moving far beyond television advertising to include the internet, video games, strategic product placement and much more. Advertising to young people takes unfair advantage of their limited cognitive ability to understand commercial persuasion. The emotive messages of advertising play into young peoples developmental concerns relating to appearance, self-identity, belonging and sexuality. This leads to depression, helplessness and eating disorders. Media violence is also a huge issue as children are increasingly exposed to it and are more likely to assume that acts of violence are acceptable behaviour. This results in emotional desensitization towards violence in real life and acts of happy slapping and teacher bating for example become common.

Commercials for candy, snacks, soft drinks and fast food are also targeted at children. Such advertising of unhealthy food products to young children contributes to poor nutritional habits that may last a lifetime. Obese children have a strong predisposition to becoming obese adults, with a greater likelihood for developing a battery of chronic diseases, including diabetes, cardiovascular disease and shorter life spans.

Challenges and Recommendations:

- Teach media literacy education to prepare children to live in the mediated world. This will counterbalance the adverse impact of commercial media on children's health and well-being.
- Empower parent responsibility, for example from cooking healthy meals for their children to limiting the amount of violence watched on TV, to pressurizing the industries to take corrective actions.
- Encourage the health sector to play a leadership role in each country to advocate for comprehensive preventive actions and regulatory responses. Health must be put at the centre of policy development for example concerning the marketing of food to children and also promoting physical activity and healthy diets among young people.
- Promote countries to implement the four strategic areas for action in the Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health framework.

Existing regulations and legislation to limit advertising that may negatively influence children's behaviour – current practice and evidence of effectiveness.

Presenter: Ross Gordon, University of Stirling, Scotland, UK

This presentation investigated the effect of food, tobacco and alcohol advertising on children's behaviour. A review of research was conducted in each of the three problem area domains to determine if there was causal effect relationship between advertising and behaviour. The current regulations in the three areas were then established and whether they were having any positive or negative effects. Potential solutions were suggested such as self-regulation, advertisement bans and finally social marketing.

The evidence from the presentation showed that advertising of food, tobacco and alcohol has an effect on children's behaviour that could have negative consequences. It showed how it was important to acknowledge that advertising forms one part of a wider marketing mix including price, product and place. Therefore the effect on the marketing mix as a whole on behaviour is a problem. Currently in the UK there are different regulatory systems in place governing food, tobacco and alcohol marketing. The effectiveness of these regulatory systems is open to question as marketing is becoming more sophisticated and diverse. A mix of methods is required to tackle the problems including statutory regulation, outright bans on advertising and the use of social marketing. A combination of the above methods must be implemented globally and over a long period of time to make marketing healthier and have a positive effect on behaviour.

Challenges and Recommendations

- Ensure regulation is long term to generate change, as cultures must change and alter, which takes time. Therefore patience is required when implementing policies.
- Self-regulation needs monitoring as corporations have their own agendas.
- Statutory regulation is clearer and there is greater control but regulation is costly to implement.
- An independent regulator is required to prevent negative marketing practice but this regulator cannot be linked to the Government or any food, alcohol or tobacco industry.
- Ad bans have been shown to work with tobacco but are trickier to implement with food and alcohol. Ad bans do not promote positive marketing or recognize the potential positive of marketing.

Track 4: Session 2.1

Media literacy and health behaviour among children and adolescents

Presenter: Leonardo Mantilla, PROINAPSA, Colombia

The presentation addressed the issue of media literacy. Media literacy is a term that has been in common use for a quarter-century, but it is ill-defined. Too often, it has been understood as a tool for protection against media's ill effects, although this is only one aspect. The dimensions of media literacy include access (the ability to locate/manipulate information), understanding (what users do with information), and creativity (the ability to use media to send messages). Media literacy can thus be understood as a framework to access, analyze, and create media.

Media literacy needs to be considered within the wider frame of health education. The skills and competencies traditionally taught in schools are no longer sufficient, as more sophisticated forms of media are necessitating the development of a higher level of complex, critical thinking. Media is a key source of health information that has the ability to reshape and influence culture. Media literacy is needed for individuals to exercise global citizenship and democracy, and to contribute to social development in an increasingly flexible and changing environment. Words and images construct worlds and act as powerful determinants of health. Children and adolescents need to be empowered by media literacy to exercise control and choose healthy lifestyles.

Media literacy is an effective approach in school health and health promotion:

It reduces the harmful effects of TV violence. It makes children more responsible for themselves It increases children's sense of self-acceptance, as related to body image. It increases the understanding of the persuasive intent of alcohol advertising. It is a component of many drug/alcohol intervention programs. It engages students and provides a means of empowerment It increases communication skills

Educating students in media literacy requires parents and teachers to be enablers of understanding through active mediation. Effective media literacy should be skills-based, which implies empowerment and the ability to transform the environment. This means being competent, creative, and critical in personal development. Media literacy can be integrated into the curriculum as a component of health education or other subjects. Extracurricular organizations and activities also teach media literacy. There is a need to examine how to empower young people through media literacy. This includes critical thinking on received media, as well as communicating through various media. Conditions for such empowerment are provided by teachers and parents who play more of a facilitative role.

Challenges and recommendations

Media has become so pervasive in society that children and adolescents are constantly bombarded by a variety of messages and ideas.

The skills and competencies taught in schools traditionally are no longer sufficient. This situation points to a need for development of a higher level of complex and critical thinking through media literacy. Education must be relevant to needs.

Media literacy is needed for individuals to exercise global citizenship and democracy, and to contribute to social development. Furthermore, the media is a key source of health information. Words and images construct worlds and act as powerful determinants of health. Children and adolescents need to be empowered by media literacy to exercise control and choose healthy lifestyles. Parents and teachers can act as enablers through active mediation. Media literacy can be an important component of health education in schools and other educational settings.

Track 4: Session 3.1

How media and new communication technology can be used to enhance health literacy among children at school age

Presenter and collaborators: Vijaya K., Corporate Marketing and Communication Division, Thanarajah S., Resource Development Department; Tan V. New Media Unit, Health Promotion Board, Singapore

This presentation addressed the multiple uses of traditional and new media to directly and subtly influence school children's positive attitudes, cognitive thinking and behavior regarding health issues, with practical examples drawn from the Singapore Health Promotion Board (SHPB). The developmental periods of childhood and adolescence are characterized by inquisitiveness, eagerness to learn, formulation of self-identify, peer influence, acceptance-seeking, and experimentation making them receptive to learning about healthy lifestyles.

In Singapore where the literacy level is high, (95.4%), mobile phone penetration is high, (106.8%), internet penetration is high (88% of households with school-going children have at least one computer), education is compulsory through primary school, and where health education is part of the core curriculum, there are multiple opportunities to exploit the use of new media to promote healthy choices. The Singapore experience demonstrates that knowledge and behavior changes require interventions that are innovative, tailored to different age and ethnic groups, updated regularly and that exploit youth's mastery of the new media to consistently appeal to the interest and engagement of the youth audience.

In addition to the use of traditional media, SHPB has developed new media initiatives for the youth, such as the use of mobile phone to send creative health messages (Heart Rockz), personalised tracking of calorie-intake with the Diet Tracker and SMS Voting to encourage participation in health competitions. The SHPB constantly develops new on-line health promotion initiatives such as podcasts and blogs to promote health literacy. A special Youth Portal is developed with inputs from youth to engage them in health activities in a fun and interactive way. The impact of traditional and new media on youth health literacy is measured through surveys, focus groups, and monitoring online traffic such as page views and visits.

Challenges and Recommendations:

- Promote media literacy to empower children and adolescents to choose healthy lifestyles.
- Advocate for health promoting regulations of media advertising, building successful examples such as tobacco-free advertising.
- Create guidelines for mutually reinforcing/beneficial partnerships between the health sector and the media, for example negotiating pro-bono, in-kind or matching funding for advertising.
- Exploit the benefits of different communication and media methods and approaches, including traditional or folk media, broadcast media, and new media. Often the appropriate 'mix' of media depends on the context and media habits of the target audiences.
- Advocate for the adoption of a code of ethical conduct on the part of the media in addressing issues concerning children and health.

TRACK FIVE

Partnerships for promoting health and education for all school-age children

Partnerships for promoting health and education

Presenter: Donald Bundy, Human Development Network, The World Bank

The importance of health and its implications on educational outcomes and achievement were emphasized. Interventions that cost less than 4 US dollars in low income countries were shown to have had a positive impact on health and education. The core intervention activities and outcomes of Focusing Resources on Effective School Health, Hygiene and Nutrition (FRESH) partnership were discussed. FRESH was launched in 2000 and is a partnership between five United Nation agencies. The purpose of FRESH was so all the agencies key initiatives could be collaborated into one framework, so it was easier for Governments to follow and implement. The key agencies and initiatives include:

- UNICEF Child Friendly Schools
- WHO Health Promoting Schools
- UNESCO Education for All
- WFP Food for Education
- World Bank School Health Initiative

The Directory of School Based Nutrition Programmes carried out a survey to determine the number of organizations supporting the four pillars of the FRESH framework. It concluded that there was a move towards partnership particularly with health and education sectors.

Accelerating the education sector response to School Health and HIV / AIDS was then investigated by reviewing 38 Education Projects in the African Project from 1997 – 2004. It found that only 42% specified a sectoral School Health and HIV / AIDS program and budget, and 33% did not mention School Health and HIV / AIDS at all. Since 2002, there has been the establishment of sub-regional workshops and the number of countries taking part in the HIV / AIDS program has increased.

There have been key changes since the introduction of the Education for All (EFA) in 2000. For instance, there is the increasing recognition of the need to work across the whole school and use holistic approaches to school health. There is greater harmonization among sectors and development partners and this has resulted in cost-effectiveness, lower transaction costs and less confusion. In low and middle income countries there are more partnerships across sectors and among development partners.

Challenges and Recommendations:

- Refresh FRESH as current framework does not reflect developments in areas such as health promotion and addressing violence.
- Improve accountability and monitoring of health issues by the education sector as this often is the weakest part of the program and there is need for a common set of indicators
- Generate information sharing among networks as low income countries have missed opportunities for cross learning with high and middle income countries.

Current state of partnerships on School Health Promotion globally – Key partners and their goals, roles, achievement to–date and future priorities.

Presenter: Cream Wright, Global Chief of Education, UNICEF, New York

UNICEF was one of the founding members of Focusing Resources on Effective School Health (FRESH) and was a key participant in its launch during the World Education Forum in Dakar. Evidence over the last seven years indicates that FRESH safeguards and improves children's health as well as improving the quality of education. This is even more so when FRESH is an integral part of child friendly school models which includes a life skills curriculum, safe water and sanitation, school feeding and child safety measures. UNICEF values a health promoting framework like FRESH as an essential element in good quality education that addresses the rights, well-being and welfare of the whole child.

Health promotion in schools is more relevant and vital than ever before in many countries. Schools are experiencing problems relating to increasing costs, large numbers of children out of school, deteriorating nutritional status of children attending school, and violence against children in and around schools. Schools are also increasingly challenged in providing the care and support required by the most vulnerable children, particularly girls, children affected by HIV and AIDS and the disabled.

In these situations, the basic components of FRESH provide an attractive framework for making the school a healthier place where children can learn better and where parents and communities can be assured of the safety and care of their children. UNICEF will support countries to develop the capacity to plan for, implement and manage child friendly schools that cater for the rights of all children. In promoting holistic friendly schools that cater for the rights of all children, UNICEF is in effect reaffirming its commitment to health promoting frameworks and showing its solidarity with the FRESH partners.

Challenges and Recommendations:

- Support countries to use the Child Friendly Schools model so the needs of the whole child are addressed in a comprehensive manner.
- Encourage all FRESH partners to document the benefits and constraints of the FRESH framework so it can be "refreshed," as schools are dynamic and multi-faceted institutions that need to respond comprehensively to the changing needs of the child in a variety of circumstances.
- Continue commitment to the health promoting frameworks and FRESH partners so the quality and effectiveness of education in countries increases.

Current state of partnerships on School Health Promotion globally - Key partners and their goals, roles, achievements to-date and future priorities

Presenter: K C Tang, World Health Organization

Since 1992, WHO has been active in promoting heath and well-being among students in collaboration with partners. Evidence is available that shows school health promotion is effective in combating both communicable and non communicable diseases among students and school-aged children. Yet there is insufficient evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion in some areas particularly in tackling the social and economic causes of poor health. In collaboration with partners, WHO will continue to provide its Member States with technical support to translate available evidence into practice and to develop models and methods for practice to advance our work in the areas where evidence is lacking. Given the urgent need to narrow the health inequity gaps and strong links between education and health, WHO has also intensified it action on achieving EFA, promoting access to education, and reducing the gaps in health and education achievements between students of lower and higher socio-economic backgrounds.

WHO is committed to the FRESH framework. The Framework is useful and important for advocating for a comprehensive approach to promote health in schools and through schools. However, where there is no schools, effort must be made to build schools and promote access to schools, given that the links between health and education is increasingly strong, that 75 M school aged children worldwide still have no access to basic education and that access to quality and equity education is not often available in most countries to narrow the health and education achievements gaps in the countries. To this end, the scope of the FRESH Framework can be broadened to also cover the EFA declaration. WHO is also committed to undertaking actions in support of and in collaboration with FRESH partners to address the issues that have been set out in the background paper for the FRESH Partners Meeting held in Paris in 2006.

Challenges and recommendations

- Revisit and agree on the goals and objectives of the FRESH partnership
- Develop plan of actions, including indicators for reporting progress, on the implementation of the partnership by its members
- Provide countries with support to build institutional capacity to promote health through schools
- Intensify actions on the promotion of access to quality education for all

Current state of partnerships on School Health Promotion globally – Key partners and their goals, roles, achievement to–date and future priorities.

Presenter: Charuaypon Torranin

FRESH consists of many partners and UNESCO is the lead agency. The partners remain committed to the framework and to approaches that are consistent with the framework. FRESH has many strengths. Its core components and strategies are still considered valid and relevant and the framework is comprehensive, flexible and easy to understand. The FRESH framework is a useful advocacy tool with governments assisting sector ministries to analyse gaps in policy and programming.

Other strengths mentioned are that FRESH provides a useful entry point for comprehensive action on HIV and AIDS. FRESH is the only forum that brings together partners working in different sectors such as education, health, water and sanitation. Joint initiatives involving two or more FRESH partners have or are being implemented. The FRESH website and toolkit have played an important role in bringing together resources and material developed by partners.

UNESCO highlighted that the EFA goals and the MDGS represent an opportunity to promote a comprehensive approach to school health and to make more explicit the links between school health and achievement of global targets. Increased funding for HIV / AIDS also represents an opportunity to strengthen school health and to use the FRESH framework to support comprehensive action on HIV / AIDS in schools. The FRESH partnership has the potential to play a more strategic role at global and country levels in advocating for comprehensive approaches to school health aid securing the commitment of bilateral donors for the FRESH approach. The partnership also has the potential to strengthen approaches to monitoring and evaluation and to highlight successful experience and best practice. The partnership could play a critical role in strengthening national co-ordination and collaboration, supporting governments to take a stronger lead and in facilitating involvement of a wider range of stakeholders, including district authorities, NGOs, teacher and parent associations.

Challenges and Recommendations

- Implementation of comprehensive approaches to school health is not systematic and there is a need for more concerted support of implementation and scale up.
- Promoting comprehensive approaches and links between the FRESH components is constrained by lack of collaboration between sector ministries and different divisions within partner agencies.
- Limited resources mean that school health is often a low priority for governments and for partner agencies at country level. FRESH is also perceived to be less relevant to high-income countries and countries in transition than to low-income countries.
- Few evaluations have been conducted and there is limited evidence on the impact of comprehensive approaches to school health.
- Clarifying and agreeing the purpose and objectives of the partnership is the fundamental issue that the partners meeting needs to address.

Equal access to quality education in Guatemala and El Salvador

Presenter: Maria del Carmen Acena, Minister of Education, Guatemala

The Minister began by explaining that Central American countries are in a process of consolidating democracy after decades of civil war that marked the second half of the 20th century. During the conflicts many lives were lost and the educational system had insufficient resources due to funding being prioritized to the Defence Ministry for internal security.

With the signing of the peace agreements and the establishment of democracy, the region could prioritize education. Autonomous education programs began throughout Central America and the presentation investigated the objectives and outcomes of the programs in El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras and Nicaragua. The programs comprised of public-private partnerships, which aimed at improving coverage and quality of education in poor and isolated communities, as well as promoting democratic values in society. The Minister continued by presenting information concerning the Integrated Health System (SIAS) in Guatemala. The SIAS is a partnership between the Ministry of Health and NGOs with the aim of expanding health coverage through decentralization.

During the presentation it was concluded that public-private partnerships have been very successful in improving access to education services and they represent almost 20% of total public enrollment. Despite autonomous schools being concentrated in the poorest areas, they have had the same or better results than traditional schools, which in part are explained by their organization and parent participation. Decentralization to the school level has resulted in an efficient and effective use of public funds. The Government society should institutionalize these management models without changing the principles on which they are based. Finally the SIAS program has increased health coverage by 4.1 million people since it started, which is nearly one third of Guatemala. It has achieved in 10 years what the Government could not achieve in 50 years.

Challenges and Recommendations

- Continue the process of decentralization with centralized policies and accountability.
- Explore new ways to provide quality education in the poorest rural areas, such as Telesecundaria, Secundaria por Cable and others.
- Lead discussions about new management models and ways to improve them, and in particular explore an autonomous model for lower secondary schools to improve equal access.
- Strengthen preventive health mechanisms with civil society participation.
- Continue forging alliances and in particular with the media to inform traditional media and society about the benefits of participation and partnerships in public schools and health.

Partnerships for providing better access to basic education

Presenter: Richard Maclure, University of Ottawa, Canada

There is now widespread acknowledgment that the provision of basic education for all requires partnerships among governments, civil society organizations (CSOs), and international donor agencies. The focus on broad-based partnerships for basic education has been reiterated in the Dakar Education for All Framework of Action, the Millenium Development Goals, and the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness. Underlying the thrust towards partnerships are well founded concerns about limited government capacities to expand and sustain systems of basic education in poor countries, and a consensus regarding the imperative of decentralization and democratization as directions to pursue for better quality and more effective systems of education. In addition, there is growing acknowledgment that genuine partner relations between international donors and host governments are likely to enhance the efficacy and results of international aid to basic education. In line with the orientation to partnership, there is also a burgeoning recognition that a child-rights approach to basic education, i.e., one that is centred on children as active participants in their own learning rather than as passive vessels of information transfer, is critical for good quality education.

Despite these undoubtedly positive trends, the global agenda for enhanced partnerships in basic education must contend with a number of abiding dilemmas and contradictions. The articulation of periodical international protocols and quantitative educational targets as reflected in the Dakar EFA Framework and the MDGs can give rise to abrupt shifts in policy discourse, particularly in poor countries that are heavily dependent on international aid. Likewise, there is a clear need to distinguish between the potential of basic education to enhance the socio-economic well-being of individuals and the communities in which they live, and the all-too frequent limitations of education as a force for benign progressive social change. There is also a need to recognize different stakeholder agendas and expectations pertaining to basic education, and to acknowledge the nature of participation as a process fraught with complex socio-political and fiscal implications.

Recommendations

While dilemmas and contradictions inherent in basic education are not easily resolved, the following recommendations are proposed:

- Increased attention & support for local schools and "out-of-school" education linked to local needs / job creation / community health;
- Greater curricular & pedagogical emphasis on schools as havens of safety and as forums for health education;
- Greater attention to children's participation and child-centred pedagogy as foundations of appropriate good quality education;
- Increased attention to the viability of children as participants in educational policy-making, planning, delivery, and evaluation;
- Acknowledgment of the limits of education, & corresponding attention to context to capacity building, transparency in governance, economic investment, & job creation;
- Unflagging attention to the nexus between gender equity in education and increased community health;
- Emphasis on inter-disciplinary evaluation & applied research that engages the partnership among health & education researchers, in conjunction with health & education policy-makers & practitioners.

Improved access to higher education for better health

Presenter: KC Tang, WHO / Geneva

The presentation highlights the strong links between increasing years of schooling and better health outcomes, the limited access to higher education by young people of a lower SES particularly in high and middle income countries, some of the barriers to education and finally the contributions that health promoters can make.

The strong link between education and health has been increasingly recognized, with people of a lower level of education having worse health than those of a higher level of education. Research from Chile, Sweden and the US reveals there is a direct relationship between increased years of schooling and better health outcomes. There appears also to be a link between higher education enrolment and students' socio-economic background, as students of a lower socio-economic background are less likely to go onto higher education compared to their higher socio-economic counterparts.

Over the years, much effort has been made in many countries around the world to improve access to higher education among the disadvantaged, particularly in high income countries, for example, through financial support and affirmative actions. The improvement has been rather limited, as revealed in the findings of studies conducted in countries of different levels of development, as most poor students lose their competitiveness against their counterparts from a higher socio-economic background in earlier school years and are not able to finish their high school with good grades or be given financial support. Other social and academic supportive interventions are also needed, for example, mentoring activities and home based activities to poor students prior to their enrolment in schools to ensure that they are on equal footing with students from rich families. Assistance given to teachers in improving aspirations for poor students and to instructional reform has also been proven effective in reducing behavioural problems and increasing academic achievements among poor students. There also appears to be a link between quality education and students' performance in terms of absenteeism, grade repetitions and drop outs. Quality education can be reflected through teacher student ratios, teacher burnt out rates, teaching load and teachers' years of experience, as well as clean and safe school physical environment.

There is an important role to play among health promoters in reducing health inequities through improved access to quality education for the disadvantaged. Health promoters must continue to use schools as entry points for school health promotion and also actively engage throughout the pathway to higher education.

Challenges and Recommendations:

- Empower people of a lower socio-economic background to exercise their rights for better health and quality education.
- Protect the interest of disadvantaged population groups by redistributing education resources in favour of those groups so young people of a lower socio-economic background have improved access to higher education.
- Improve the quality of the learning environment in earlier years among young people, in addition to improved access to primary and secondary education.
- Support schools to achieve quality education and support the effort made by the education sector to build schools where there are no schools.

Schools for Health in Europe: Partnerships for promoting health and education

Presenter: Goof Buijs, NIGZ School Programme, Netherlands

This presentation explained the background, aims, characteristics and partnerships of the European Network of Health Promoting Schools (ENHPS). The new phase for school health in Europe was also presented where the ENHPS will extend into the Schools for Health in Europe Network (SHE), starting from January 2008.

The conceptual origins of ENHPS began in the 1980s and since 1991 the network has been run by three international organizations: the Council of Europe, the European Commissions and the WHO Regional Office for Europe. The overall aim of the network is to positively influence the health and health behaviour of school-aged children (aged 4-18 years) in Europe by developing and implementing quality-based and evidence-based health promotion programmes for the school setting. Originally there were seven countries and now there are forty three countries in the ENHPS. It was mentioned how the diversity of countries in Europe from rich to poor is an issue.

The ENHPS has indicated that the successful implementation of health promotion schools policies, principles and methods can contribute significantly to the educational experience of all young people living and learning within schools. The ENHPS regards evaluation as very important for improving effectiveness and presentation highlighted how it has been addressing indicators, structural and practical aspects of the school.

It was stated how there is a growing recognition that new forms of partnerships and inter-sectoral work are required to address the social and economic determinants of health. Partnerships between health and education ministries have proved important in relation to funding support and establishing continuity and sustainable development. But also partnerships are needed between students, parents and the community as well as the research community to ensure success.

Challenges and Recommendations

Schools for Health in Europe Network (SHE) will:

- Provide easy access to information, good practices, contacts and exchange of information.
- Help to make health promoting schools a more integral part of policy development in Europe and in the member states.
- Encourage each member state to develop and implement a national policy on health promoting schools, building on the experiences within the country, within Europe and abroad. Such a policy will also be encouraged by making sure that schools are part of the community.
- Expand and further explore the European dimension of health promoting schools. Worldwide, Europe has one of the leading international networks on school health promotion.

The Canadian experience

Presenter: Lesley Burgess, Department of Health, Newfoundland, Canada

The presentation described the implementation of NFSI in schools in Newfoundland, Canada. The initiative has shown to be successful, yet it demonstrates some of the issues and challenges that can be faced in a high-income country or otherwise.

To best determine how to proceed, a focus group was held in each participating school. This was followed by the formation of a Core Action Group (CAG) to oversee the implementation. The CAG was formed of parents, teachers, principals, students, canteen staff, and a local health authority. Regional nutritionists took the lead, as principals were often unable to make the time commitment necessary. It proved to be difficult to get all required stakeholders together to form the CAG.

The implemented nutrition policy addressed some, but not all of the five points in the NFSI framework. It was developed in consultation with schools councils and other stakeholders. There were also several activities related to awareness and capacity building held within the school community. These involved parents, teachers, students, and public health staff.

Challenges in participation included students not wanting their parents/guardians at school-based events with them, and the distance needed to travel between homes and schools to attend events. On-going training for food service staff and reluctance to request local shops to adhere to nutrition guidelines were challenges surrounding the nutrition policy implementation.

The development and modification of the curriculum requires the inclusion of nutrition as part of health education. Challenges include lack of food preparation facilities and the ability to visit farms/food factories for more rural schools. Supportive school environments are encouraged, however it is also difficult to address the issue of bringing unhealthy foods into schools.

Challenges and recommendations

- There is a lack of a monitoring system to determine the progress of children over time.
- Support from the higher provincial government is needed to ensure success and to adjust the curriculum in particular, as this is provincial jurisdiction.
- There is a need to evaluate NFSI criteria to make participation more accessible. This includes issues of CAG membership.
- There is an issue of overload of schools. There seem to be a variety of programs on school health, nutrition, and physical activity at various levels. It needs to be examined whether these programs can be merged and there needs to be more clarity on the direction and differences of these programs.

The Indian experience

Presenter: Swati Parmar, HRIDAY-SHAN, India

The presentation described the pilot-testing of NFSI in schools in New Delhi, India. The initiative has shown some success, yet it demonstrates some of the issues and challenges that can be faced in a low-income country.

The NFSI pilot- testing in India was conducted in 4 schools (2 government and 2 private) located in New Delhi, India. The initiative was undertaken in collaboration with Department of Nutrition for Health and Development (NHD) WHO, Geneva, and HRIDAY-SHAN (Health Related Information Dissemination Among Youth - Student Health Action Network; HRIDAY-'heart', SHAN-'prestige'), which is a voluntary group working on promoting health awareness and health advocacy among youth in India.

Some schools declined to participate in the pilot project due to time constraints and/or difficulty in including a representative from management staff for the Core Action Group (CAG). Challenges in implementation of the NFSI could include a lack of canteen facilities; canteen operations contracted to an outside vendor with no school input into the menu; and lack of representation from local health authorities. A further roadblock identified was the inability to reach the out-of-school youth in India.

Most of the schools in India do not have any formal health promoting policy programmes. There is an absence of any multi-sectoral committees to decide on improving nutrition and physical activity levels. Just formulating policies at the school level will not bring about behavior change in students. Health promoting activities at the classroom level and at the home level will help to enhance nutrition-related knowledge among students, teachers and parents, so that acceptance of these policies is smooth.

The immense need to launch programmes like 'Nutrition Friendly Schools Initiative' with government and NGO partnership became apparent in pilot- testing of this project.

Challenges and recommendations

- NFSI guidelines should be adjusted so that the CAG comprises representatives from school (principal, teacher, coordinator, and student), home (parents), and the community (member of neighbourhood Resident Welfare Association/local body), as all the required members for CAG presently mentioned in NFSI do not have regular periodic meetings in most schools.
- Such initiatives in Government schools require partnership with Directorate of Education, Delhi Government.

FIELD VISIT BRAEMAR ELEMENTARY

WHO Technical Meetings: Field Trip To Braemar Elementary

On June 6, 2007, as part of the WHO Technical Meetings, 'Building School Partnership for Health, Education Achievements and Development', Jennifer Fenton from Action Schools British Columbia presented an overview of the Action Schools program. The session highlighted the activity kits, exercise DVD's, and teacher resource books, which have been sent to many schools in BC and were given out to session participants. The activity kits include exercise bands, skipping rope, and balls. Jennifer demonstrated how teachers can use the exercise DVD and bands to incorporate physical activity into daily lessons. This was an opportunity for participants to get out of their seats and get moving with Jennifer leading the group in an 'energy burst' from the DVD. Other resources developed by Action Schools! BC were presented, followed by a field trip to Braemar Elementary in North Vancouver. Most of the meeting participants went on the field trip.

At Braemar Elementary, the School Principal, Phil Marshall, described the impact of the Action Schools! BC program on students, feedback from teachers, and the challenges they encountered. Mr. Marshall explained how he has integrated health promotion into the School Plan. Overall, the Action Schools! BC program has been very well received and has benefited the students and staff. Teachers noticed improvements in the students' ability to concentrate and focus on the lesson after exercising. Also, there was a decrease in misbehaviour as a result of this opportunity for students to be active.

The Minister of State for Act Now! BC, Gordon Hogg, attended the field trip and spoke to participants. The highlight of the school visit was a demonstration of the school-wide exercise to music program, where all students gathered in the playground and showed the delegates their exercise routines. The delegates spent an enjoyable afternoon joining in on this activity with hundreds of smiling students.

The field trip demonstrated the positive impact of a school-wide approach to health promotion and the many benefits or students. The trip also highlighted the importance of strong leadership and the need to inspire a shared vision among staff when promoting Healthy Schools. The staff at Braemar Elementary demonstrated a strong sense of teamwork and embraced the goals of Action Schools! BC throughout the initial phases of the program. The desire to collaborate to solve problems has enabled the school to overcome challenges as they arise. During the field trip, it was evident that participation in the Action Schools! BC Program and the school staff's effort to embrace health promotion as an important part of a comprehensive education was definitely worth the effort. The positive school climate and sense of pride demonstrated by students showed WHO delegates the many other benefits of a comprehensive school health program. To learn more about Action Schools! BC, visit their website at <u>www.actionschoolsbc.ca</u>

Carolanne Oswald Manager, Partnerships and Initiatives Joint Consortium for School Health

STATEMENT

PROCESS

Ten months prior to the Technical Meeting WHO convened a Steering Committee with participants from all six WHO regions, nominated by the WHO regional advisors, as well as representatives from major UN agencies. This steering committee advised WHO on the background and the programme for the Technical Meeting. Members of the steering committee became track leaders for the five tracks of the meeting: Track 1: Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion, Track 2: Implementation of Health-Promoting Schools and other School Community Programmes, Track 3: The role of schools in alleviating social and economic disadvantage, Track 4: Impact of the media on health behaviour of children and adolescents, Track 5: Partnerships for promoting health and education for all school-age children.

At the Technical Meeting, each track leader presented a plenary session and organized several parallel sessions, based on papers that were commissioned from around the world for this meeting. A drafting group for the meeting statement met several times, consisting of the WHO secretariat, track leaders, and Don Nutbeam as the rapporteur.

A working draft of the meeting statement had been developed by the WHO Secretariat with input from track leaders. It was then revised twice during the Technical Meeting, based on presentations in plenary and parallel sessions and discussions, and in light of the comments received from meeting participants. The statement was approved by the meeting participants at the final session of the Technical Meeting.

Schools for Health, Education and Development A Call for Action

Background

In 2007, the World Health Organization and the Pan Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health (JCSH) cohosted a Technical Meeting on Building School Partnerships for Health, Education Achievements and Development (Vancouver, 5-8 June 2007), with the participation of education and health experts from about 30 countries and United Nations agencies. The Meeting built upon earlier work to develop strategies that will enable schools to respond more effectively to current and emerging health concerns and development challenges. This statement and the **Call for Action** appended to it are a reflection of collective concerns and ideas about effective approaches and strategies that can be adopted by schools to promote health, education and development.

Schools make a difference - evidence of progress

Every child has the human right to education, health and security. The central role of schools is teaching and learning, but they are also a unique community resource to promote health and development for children, families and teachers. Education, health and other sectors must work together as partners to develop the full potential of young people, mitigating the impact of social and economic disadvantage. There has been significant progress in achieving improved health and educational outcomes over the past decade through school-based health, education and development initiatives. The consensus on the core components of an effective school programme – **policy, skills-based health education, a supportive social and physical environment, community partnerships and health services** –derives from decades of experience of implementing school health initiatives. Different countries and international organizations use different terms, although all are based on the same fundamental evidence and principles.

• The relationship between school enrolment and participation and improved health outcomes is well established, especially for girls. Since 2000, there has been sustained, albeit inconsistent, progress in achieving higher rates of school participation in all parts of the world.

• The strong association between good health and academic achievement and school completion is now well understood. School health and education programmes contribute to the achievement of Education for All and the Millennium Development Goals.

• Better evidence has led to improved school programmes that have helped local communities and countries to promote healthy lifestyles and environments to combat communicable diseases such as diarrhoea, worm infections and sexually transmitted diseases, including HIV. School programmes have been important agents for change in addressing risk factors for noncommunicable diseases, such as unhealthy eating and tobacco consumption, as well as improving mental health and reducing alcohol and illicit drug use, violence and injuries.

• Effective practice has included approaches that combine traditional health education with more comprehensive, whole-school approaches that create a supportive physical, social and learning environment, and bring together the combined resources of parents, local communities and organizations.

• School health promotion strategies are now better tailored to meet the needs of specific regions and health issues.

Meeting current and emerging challenges

Much progress has been made, but much remains to be done. Five **key challenges** were identified as important in maintaining progress across all regions and countries:

Building evidence and experience: Studies from high-income, middle-income and low-income countries indicate that a whole-school approach to health and development is effective in promoting and protecting health and improving academic achievement. Such approaches involve the school community in deciding on the most relevant combination of strategies, school policies and ways to improve the physical and social environment for students and enhance the relationships between the school, parents and the local community.

Our challenge is to develop and sustain effective school health programmes in low-income countries and communities in ways that link schools with community development, and continue to adapt and develop new methods for working with schools and school workers operating in adverse social circumstances in all countries.

Strengthening implementation processes: Progress in achieving widespread implementation of school health initiatives and sustaining their results is observable in many schools and across countries. Implementation has not always been achieved as rapidly or broadly as desirable. Agreements between the education and health sectors, laying down clear roles for each, must be concluded and implemented from the beginning of the collaboration process. Using data from both sectors is crucial for advocacy and programme design. Tools and processes that actively engage all stakeholders are essential in turning concepts into action. Attention to context and local social and economic determinants will optimize the success of implementation.

Our challenge is to commit the human, technical and financial resources required for implementation. Investment is needed in professional development for education and health professionals, leading to a shared understanding of the concepts and skills required to manage the implementation process – planning, delivery and evaluation.

Alleviating social and economic disadvantage – promoting equity: Schools are not able to eliminate disadvantage in their societies on their own, but they can work effectively with communities and other agencies to alleviate the impact of this disadvantage, through greater coordination and intensity of action. Participation in high-quality schooling is fundamental in achieving equity and progress. Schools in low-income countries face enormous challenges, often lacking a basic school infrastructure, and frequently having to overcome the most basic challenges of poor hygiene, inadequate food and the prevention of communicable diseases. Schools can also contribute to community, economic and social development programmes and be a resource for the entire community.

Our challenge is to respond to the needs of young people in highly adverse circumstances. Schools that serve indigenous peoples face many of the same economic disadvantages, but also need to interpret concepts such as school health programmes in more culturally relevant terms. This includes showing respect for traditional forms of knowledge and the important role of self-determination in indigenous societies. Schools also play a critical role in communities or countries whose infrastructure and social fabric have been destroyed by war, natural disaster or epidemics. They are symbolic and practical focal points in the rebuilding of communities and countries, and have a direct role to play in building resilience and enriching the lives of young people, particularly refugee and migrant children, in such circumstances. Schools that serve disadvantaged communities must ensure that curricula, health services and social environments are relevant to the challenges and strengths of their communities, and respond effectively to the challenge posed by high levels of school attrition.

Harnessing media influence: Media and mass communication, which are both a cause and a consequence of globalization, are influencing lifestyles and shaping our modern global culture. The media are a force for good in education and communication, but can have a negative influence on schoolchildren when used in irresponsible marketing practices. Children and adolescents are particularly vulnerable to advertising because of their limited comprehension of the nature and purpose of commercial appeals.

Our challenge is to develop school health activities, materials and media that harness positively the potential of all media, including the new media, for the advancement of education and health goals in schools. Our challenge is also to ensure that school students develop their knowledge and understanding of the media and its potential to influence and exploit young people. School education about media influences will not be sufficient by itself: a supportive regulatory environment is needed to address the advertising of harmful products and services.

Improving partnerships among different sectors and organizations: Effective, sustainable action to promote school health depends upon formal and consensual sharing of responsibilities between health, education and other sectors. Impressive progress can be achieved when the actions of the different agencies and sectors are harmonized and committed to promoting health and education through schools. This is most obvious where collaboration takes place between local agencies and national ministries of education and health. It also includes other agencies and ministries that impact on the health and education of school students. Harmonization at the international level among intergovernmental and international organizations can maximize cost-effectiveness and avoid unnecessary duplication, contradiction and confusion at country level.

Our challenge is to achieve coordination of effort and partnerships in school health programmes, enabling partners to share their visions, set targets, pool resources and delineate their actions. The FRESH (Focusing Resources on Effective School Health) framework is one mechanism where coordination between international agencies could be optimally achieved. Other mechanisms at national and regional levels exist to coordinate the effective use of resources at these levels. Our challenge is to promote cross-learning between high-income, middle-income and low-income countries, and to find meaningful ways to engage the private sector with school communities in ways that are mutually beneficial and where the purpose and integrity of school programmes are not compromised.

A call for action

Achieving the potential offered by schools requires leadership at national, community and school level, reflected in a genuine commitment to investing in education and in the health of school students and their teachers.

The participants in this Meeting call for leadership by local school communities, governments and international organizations in five broad areas of action to attain education, health and development goals over the next decade.

• **Invest in education** to achieve the highest possible levels of enrolment, participation and school achievement. This will bring health, social and economic development benefits at all levels of society.

• **Build school infrastructure** to create a stimulating, socially supportive, hygienic and safe environment that fosters high-quality learning, social development and healthy choices for students, parents and teachers.

• **Invest in capacity** to support professional development programmes which will build the capabilities of teachers and health professionals to plan, implement and evaluate school health initiatives. This includes support for the effective use of traditional media as well as new media, and increasing access to those technologies; and full use of existing databases as well as the collection and use of disaggregated social and economic data on health and education achievements for planning, reporting on progress and research.

• **Implement what we know to be effective** through investment in the dissemination of good practice throughout the education and health sectors, by adaptation of successful programmes to the local context, culture and political conditions, and by achieving the collaboration required for implementation.

• Harmonize action among partners for sustainable partnerships by improving the communication of ideas and the benefits of school health programmes across the health and education sectors, by supporting a variety of communities of practice that are relevant to the local needs and priorities of schools, and by developing and strengthening networks to exchange information and knowledge, especially in low-income countries and among United Nations organizations.

The participants of this Technical Meeting pledge to advocate and act in ways that reflect their different circumstances and opportunities and to intensify efforts to secure high-level political support in countries, to keep health and education for all high on the national and global development agenda, and to ensure that countries fulfill their commitment to achieving the targets set by international agreements and declarations such as Millennium Development Goals and Education for All.

8 June 2007

Note: This statement reflects the collective views of an international group of experts, participants in the WHO/JCSH Technical Meeting on Building School Partnerships for Health, Education Achievements and Development (Vancouver, 5-8 June 2007). It does not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization.

This statement does not necessarily represent the views or the stated policy of the Pan Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health.

A ROUNDTABLE MEETING ON:

The Global Strategy on Diet, Physical activity and Health: A School Policy Framework

<u>Plenary on Satellite Expert Roundtable on 'The Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health: a School Policy Framework'</u>

Chairperson: Ms Kelly Stone, Director Division of Childhood & Adolescence, Public Health Agency Canada, Ottawa, Canada

Rapporteur: A/Prof Roya Kelishadi, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Introduction

Within the concept of the Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health (DPAS), WHO is currently developing *DPAS: A School Policy Initiative* that is intended to be one of the tools that will be provided to Members States to facilitate DPAS implementation at the (sub) national level. The Expert Roundtable that was held as a satellite meeting on 6 June 2007 is a first step in the development of the DPAS School Policy Framework. This presentation provides an overview of the first outcomes of this Expert Roundtable and the feedback received in the Plenary session.

Overall goal

The overall goal of the School Policy Initiative will be to primarily guide policy makers in the development and implementation of policies that promote healthy eating and physical activity in the school setting, through environmental, behavioral and educational changes. Specific characteristics:

- Macro level: policy makers in national and sub-national governments
- Focus on healthy eating and physical activity
- Focus on the school setting
- Applicable both in developed and developing countries
- Build upon the considerable amount of knowledge, experience and work already under way on school initiatives.

Key messages

Overarching key messages for the DPAS School Policy Framework:

- Take a positive approach to healthy eating and physical activity
- Identify high level policy that will allow for national, regional and local implementation
- Emphasize the importance of translating the policy ultimately into action: needs political will, stakeholder engagement, financial resources
- Consider both individual and environmental issues
- Consider the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child as foundation for action
- Encourage ownership of both education and health sectors
- Establish a process that ensures buy-in of all stakeholders
- Build upon an overarching framework of Health Promoting Schools
- Recognize that there is no one-size-fits-all solution for low-, middle- and high income countries
- Ensure the framework is culturally relevant
- Recognize that children/school can be change agents for communities (empower children)

Effective policy options

The Expert Roundtable formulated recommendations regarding effective policy options:

- Use STEP-wise approach with core, expanded and desirable interventions
- Build upon and integrate into existing policies and programmes
- Use comprehensive approach instead of one-off projects
- Integrate healthy eating and physical activity throughout the school environment (curriculum, regulations, provisions, transportation, pre/after school activities)

Specific policy options to improve physical activity and healthy eating were provided. For the list of specific policy options, please see the slides of the reporting back to the plenary session or contact <u>debruinm@who.int</u>.

Stakeholders

Successful adoption, implementation and monitoring of the policy options will require the involvement and cooperation of numerous stakeholders: education sector, other sectors, all levels of government, parents, community groups, health sector, non governmental organizations, media, academics/researchers, professional organizations, private sector and faith-based leaders. Suggestions for engaging these stakeholders:

- Enhance collaboration through existing or new mechanisms
- Organize meaningful and genuine participation
- Engage stakeholders both in planning and decision making
- Make sure all stakeholders agree on their specific roles
- Evaluate stakeholder action by using monitoring mechanisms

Monitoring and Evaluation

Monitoring and evaluation is an essential part of a school policy in order to document changes due to policy, to enhance support, to allocate resources, to provide accountability, to inform decisionmaking and to contribute to improving the evidence base for action. The Expert Roundtable agreed to use the DPAS Framework to Monitor and Evaluate Implementation as a guiding tool. This framework aims to explain how policies and programmes, and their implementation, influence populations leading to behavior changes and longer-term social, health and economic benefits.

Challenges and Recommendations

In the discussion that followed the presentation of the outcomes of the Expert Roundtable, the participants of the Plenary session formulated several challenges and recommendations for WHO on the DPAS School Policy Framework:

- Although there are already many initiatives for schools, by schools and in school settings, there is significant added value for this framework as it is aiming at governments as actors (instead of schools), focusing on how to improve dietary habits and increase physical activity, via the school setting.
- It is important to build upon the considerable amount of knowledge and experience that is available on school initiatives and to align this framework with the existing and on-going initiatives. The wheel should not be reinvented or duplicate efforts already under way.
- DPAS can be used as a mechanism to increase the profile of Health Promoting Schools on the political agenda.
- UNESCO and UNICEF need to be involved in the development of the DPAS School Policy Framework.
- End users (children) need to be involved in the development of the DPAS School Policy Framework.
- The DPAS Framework to Monitor and Evaluate Implementation, which will be used as a guiding tool for monitoring and evaluation in the DPAS School Policy Framework, needs to be validated.

CLOSING REMARKS

Upon the close of the meeting, Dr Luiz Galvao, WHO / PAHO gave closing remarks.

On behalf of all the meeting participants, he thanked colleagues from WHO Headquarters and the Joint Consortium for School Health for organizing the meeting.

He highlighted that meeting experts from across the world was personally gratifying and that listening to many countries' experiences of Health Promoting Schools (HPS) was invaluable.

Dr Luiz Galvao stated the importance of HPS in preventing chronic and infectious diseases and that HPS are the centre of discussion for social determinants of health. He explained that the environment can affect one's life and that it is vital that schools provide a healthy environment to promote educational attainment and health of each child. Finally he stated how partnerships play an important part to ensure the potential of HPS is maximised.

APPENDIX

Appendix One - Programme





Building School Partnership for Health, Education Achievements and Development

June 5-8 2007 - Vancouver, CANADA

PROGRAMME

Background

In 1995, the WHO held a meeting with experts on Comprehensive School Health Education and Promotion. Based on the recommendations from the meeting and the experience of the European Network of Health Promoting Schools (HPS) established in 1992, the WHO launched the Global School Health Initiative to advance the HPS approach. Since then, HPSs have been implemented in all six WHO Regions, and HPS networks have been established. At the Education for All (EFA) World Education Forum in 2000, major United Nations agencies agreed to harmonize actions around common elements in each of their approaches on school health, such as HPS and Child-Friendly Schools. UNESCO, UNICEF, WHO, the World Bank, as well as non-governmental organizations came together to launch the Focusing Resources on Effective School Health (FRESH) framework. Recently, the role of NGOs such as the IUHPE and PCD in school health promotion is also increasingly active, along with the peak organizations in school health at the country level.

The push for advancing school health promotion continues. The school sections at the 18th IUHPE World Conference on Health Promotion and Education in 2004 in Melbourne, the 6th Global Conference on Health Promotion in 2005 in Bangkok, as well as the FRESH partners meeting in 2006 in Paris all have called for mechanisms and processes to coordinate efforts and share resources and experiences for making further progress on school health promotion. A WHO Secretary Report to the 2006 World Health Assembly called for immediate action to address the underlying socio-economic causes of poor health in schools.

Indeed, school health promotion has advanced in the past ten years. Many regions and countries have made progress in implementing school health initiatives. To date, there is convincing evidence of the effectiveness of school health initiatives in combating a number of communicable diseases, such as diarrhoea and worm infections. There is also probable and possible evidence of the effectiveness of school health initiatives that address non-communicable diseases and risk factors, such as unhealthy diets, physical inactivity, tobacco consumption and harmful use of alcohol, mental health, violence as well as injuries. However, the successes in behavioural changes among students are only largely evidenced in high income countries. There is therefore an urgent need to translate available evidence into practice, particularly in low and middle income countries.

There is insufficient evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion initiatives in some areas, for example, reducing the gaps in health and academic achievements between students of lower and higher socio-economic backgrounds and mitigating the negative health impact of advertising through media. To attempt to narrow the inequity gaps, students of disadvantaged

backgrounds must be given priority as target of interventions. Social and economic disaggregated data on health and academic achievements among different population groups must be made available for planning, monitoring and evaluation. Greater effort must also be made to promote media literacy and to use media for health literacy.

There are also emerging issues confronting school health promotion, including appropriate responses to public health emergencies, natural disasters and conflict situations, which all warrant immediate attention.

Purpose of the meeting

The purpose of the meeting is to set direction and provide leadership to meet future challenges in promoting health through schools, with a focus on addressing the wider determinants of health. The term "through schools" refers to involvements with students and their families, staff members in schools as well as interactions with the local communities. Where there are no schools, efforts must be made to establish schools and provide access to education.

Objectives of the meeting

The specific objectives of the meeting are:

- To review the current state-of-the-art in school health promotion and explore ways to translate evidence into policy and practice, particularly in low and middle income countries.
- To explore approaches that aim to address the wider determinants of health (including social and economic causes of poor health and negative media influences) and reduce health and education achievement gaps between students from low and high socio-economic strata.
- To derive strategic directions and recommendations for priority actions on promoting health, education achievements and development through schools and on building school partnership.

Outcomes of the meeting

- Technical papers and a meeting report
- A statement to advocate for building school partnerships, health and education achievements among children and adolescents, and development through better health and education

Dates and location

The 4-day technical meeting will take place on June 5-8 2007 in Vancouver preceding the 19th IUHPE World Conference on Health Promotion and Education.

The meeting organizers

The meeting will be co-hosted by the WHO and the Pan Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health.

Participants

60-80 colleagues will be invited including researchers, practitioners and policy makers in both the health and education sectors from countries of different levels of development. In addition, there will be invited keynote speakers and staff members of the WHO, as well as observers from the local host, the International School Health Network and the ministries of health and education in selected countries.

Agenda

Tuesday June 5, 2007

- 09:00-09:45 Registration
- 09:45–10:05 Opening Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

Opening remarks: Minister Gordon Hogg, Minister of State for ActNow, British Columbia, Canada

- 10:05-10:30 Group photo
- 10:30-11:00 *Opening key note session:* Location: Le Versailles Ballroom
 - Election of Chairperson and rapporteur Dr Eduardo Guerrero, WHO/PAHO (Dr Franscico Huerta, Executive Director of Convenio Andrés Bello has been nominated by PAHO to be the Chair)
 - Adoption of programme
 - Briefing on background, objectives and expected outcomes of the meeting
 - Introduction to the keynote speakers as well as the proceedings of the opening keynote plenary

11:00-12:30 Keynote presentations: Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

- **11:00-11:45** Building school partnership for health, education achievements and development the health perspective Dr. Claude Rocan, Public Health Agency of Canada
- **11:45-12:30** Building school partnership for health, education achievements and development the education perspective Dr. Charuaypon Torranin, Ministry of Education, Thailand

12:30-14:00 Lunch break

Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion

14:00-14:45 *Plenary session* Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

Current state-of-the-art and implications for practice, policy development and research Presenter: Lawrence St. Leger, International Union for Health Promotion and Education Chair: Mostafa Abolfotouh, Alexandria University, Egypt

14:45-15:15 Mobility break

15:15-16:45 3 Parallel sessions

Session 1 Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

- Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion in Iran
 Presenter: Nastaran Keshavarz Mohammadi, Qazvin Medical Sciences
 University, Iran
- Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion in Chile Presenter: Judith Salinas, Ministry of Health, Chile

Session 2

Location: Chateau Mouton Rothschild Room

- Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion in some East Mediterranean countries Presenter: Mostafa Abolfotouh, Alexandria University, Egypt
- Evidence of the effectiveness of school health promotion in China Presenter: Ji-Chengye, Peking University, China

Session 3 – A facilitated session Location: Chateau Belair Room

 Evidence-based school health promotion - social disaggregated data for planning, monitoring and evaluation Facilitator to be advised

Wednesday June 6, 2007

Implementation of health-promoting school and other school community programmes

09:00-09:45 Draft Closing Statement – an overview ¹ Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

09:45-10:30 *Plenary session* Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

Implementation of HPS and other school community programmes: an overview:

- Framing theories and highlights from implementation research
- Synthesis and findings from case studies
- Recommendations and discussion points from case studies

Presenter: Cheryl Whitman, Education Development Centre, USA Chair: Sergio Meresman, Consultant, Uruguay

10:30-11:00 Mobility break

11:00-12:30 *4 Parallel sessions*

Session 1 Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

 A case study in Germany: review and comments from the author and a reviewer, followed by discussion/debate around a "controversial statement" related to the case Presenter: Peter Paulus, Universität Lüneburg, Germany

Session 2 Location: Chateau Mouton Rothschild Room

 A case study in Uruguay: review and comments from the author and a reviewer, followed by discussion/debate around a "controversial statement" related to the case Presenter: Sergio Meresman, Consultant, Uruguay

Session 3 Location: Chateau Belair Room

• A case study in Kenya: review and comments from the author and a

¹ A statement to advocate for building school partnership, health and education achievements for children and adolescents, and development through better health and education will be developed and finalized at the meeting. For this reason, a drafting group will be formed. Members of this group are the Chair/s of Meeting, the track leaders, (representatives of the IUHPE and ISHN, Mostafa Abolfotouh, Cheryl Whitman, Sergio Meresman, Cossa Odete, Don Bundy, Charuaypon Torranin, Abdul Halim Joukhadar and Claire Avison - also representing the Pan Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health), Sheila Bonito, Goof Buijs, Don Nutbeam, Giovanna Campello, Sofia Leticia Morales and Tang Kwok Cho.

reviewer, followed by discussion/debate around a "controversial statement" related to the case Presenter: Washington Onyango-Ouma, University of Nairobi, Kenya

Session 4 Location: Chateau Olivier Room

 A case study in Cook Islands: review and comments from the author and a reviewer, followed by discussion/debate around a "controversial statement" related to the case Presenter: Debi Futter – Puati, Ministry of Health, Cook Islands

Plenary session Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

Facilitators: Cheryl Whitman and Sergio Meresman, Rapporteur: Carmen Aldinger, Education Development Centre, United States of America

- Reporting back from parallel sessions
- Presenting "controversial statements" (that came out of the cases, sessions, or where gathered from reviewers beforehand)
- Debate-Group dynamic
- Summarizing factors of success Producing a matrix for implementation

12:30-14:00 Lunch break

The role of schools in alleviating social and economic disadvantage

14:00-14:45 *Plenary session* Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

Overview paper linking the four sub-tracks and relating this work to global trends and initiatives such as the Millennium Development Goals, the WHO Commission on Social Determinants of Health and others Presenter: Doug McCall, International School Health Network Chair: Cossa Odete, Mozambique

14:45-15:15 Mobility break

15:15-16:45 3 Parallel sessions

Session 1 Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

• The school's role in health, learning and development in low-income countries

Presenter: Lesley Drake, Partnership for Child Development

Schools as engines for development

Presenter: Sofia Leticia Morales, WHO/PAHO

Session 2 Location: Chateau Mouton Rothschild Room

- Schools in low-income communities within high income countries
 Presenter: Weschler Howell, Centres of Disease Control and Prevention,
 United States of America
- Schools in low-income communities in Brazil
- Presenter: Regiane Rezende, Brazil
- Schools in aboriginal and indigenous communities
 Presenter: Darren McKee, Saskatchewan Learning Canada

Session 3

Location: Chateau Belair Room

- Using a Health Promoting School approach to reduce the risks from a degraded environment in Kosovo after the Balkan conflict Presenter: Ian Young, Scotland Health, United Kingdom
- Schools in communities that have been disrupted by natural disasters
 Presenter: Loralei Cropley, University of New Orleans, United States of
 America
- School role in social reconstruction of the community in crisis post conflict, multiethnic, marginalized, impoverished Presenter: Lina Kostarova Unkovska, Centre for Psychosocial & Crisis Action, Macedonia

Thursday June 7, 2007

Impact of the media on the health behaviour of children and adolescents

09:00-09:45 Closing Statement (penultimate draft) Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

09:45–10:30 *Plenary session* Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

Media and new communication technology and the health and health behaviour of children and adolescents Presenter: Abdul-Halim Joukhadar, WHO/EMRO Chair: Claire Avison, Pan Canadian Joint Consortium for School Health

- 10:30-11:00 Mobility break
- 11:00-12:00 3 Parallel sessions

Session 1 Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

• Existing regulations and legislation to limit advertising that may negatively influence children's and adolescent's health behaviour - current practice and evidence of effectiveness Presenter: Ross Gordon, University of Stirling, Scotland, United Kingdom

Session 2 Location: Chateau Mouton Rothschild Room

 Media literacy and health behaviour among children and adolescents Presenter: Leonardo Mantilla, PROINAPSA, Colombia

Session 3 Location: Chateau Belair Room

 How media and new communication technology can be used to enhance health literacy among children at school age Presenter: K Vijaya, Health Promotion Board, Singapore

12:00-13:00 Lunch break

13:00-15:30 A special session to be given by **Action Schools**, **British Columbia, Canada** Presentation - Jennifer Fenton from Action Schools! British Columbia Field Visit - Braemar Elementary (School Principal: Phil Marshall)

Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

15:30-15:45 Mobility break

15:45-16:45 Plenary Location: Le Versailles Ballroom A roundtable meeting on 'The Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health: a School Policy Framework''²

Friday June 8, 2007

Partnerships for promoting health and education for all school-age children

9:30-10:15 *Plenary session* Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

Current state of partnerships on school health promotion globally - key partners and their goals, roles, achievement to-date and future priorities (This session will also lay the foundation for the Exploring a way ahead for the FRESH Framework session) Presenters: Donald Bundy, World Bank, Anna Maria Hoffmann, UNICEF, K C Tang, WHO, UNESCO (to be confirmed) Chair: Dr Charuaypon Torranin, Ministry of Education, Thailand

10:15-10:45 Mobility break

10:45-12:15 2 Parallel sessions

Session 1 – Explore a way ahead for the FRESH framework Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

- Access to equity and quality education in Guatemala
 Presenter: Acena Mary Carmen, Guatemala
- Partnerships for providing better access to basic education Presenter: Richard Maclure, University of Ottawa, Canada
- Partnerships for improved access to tertiary education opportunities for students from a lower socio-economic background Presenter: K C Tang, WHO/Geneva
- Schools for Health in Europe Network
 Presenter: Goof Buijs, NIGZ School Programme, Netherlands

² In collaboration with Public Health Agency Canada - an expert roundtable meeting on 'The Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health: a School Policy Framework'. This expert meeting is part of the development of a school policy framework. This framework is intended to be one of the tools provided by WHO to facilitate the implementation the Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health. The overall goal of the school policy framework is to guide primarily policy makers in the development and implementation of policies that promote a healthy diet and physical activity in the school setting through environmental, behavior and education changes. During the expert roundtable meeting, two background papers will be presented and discussed and the draft of the school policy framework will be started. The school policy framework is foreseen to be finalized in March 2008.

Session 2 - Nutrition-Friendly Schools Initiative: A case study on strengthening partnership Location: Chateau Mouton Rothschild Room

- The Brazilian experience
 Ana Beatriz Vasconcellos, Secretariat of Health Care attention, Brazil
- The Canadian experience
 Leslie Burgess, Department of Health, Newfoundland, Canada
- The Indian experience
 Swati Parmar, HRIDAY-SHAN, India
- 12:15-13:30 Lunch break
- 13:30-15:30 Finalization of the statement
- Location: Le Versailles Ballroom
- 15:30-16:00 Closing Dr Luiz Galvao, WHO/PAHO Location: Le Versailles Ballroom

Appendix Two – List of all participants





Building School Partnership for Health, Education Achievements and Development

5-8 June 2007 - Vancouver, CANADA

PROVISIONAL LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

Abolfotouh Mostafa Department of Family Health Alexandria University 165, Al-Horreya Avenue Al-Hadara, Alexandria Egypt

Aldinger Carmen Health and Human Development Global Programs (HHD) Education Development Center, Inc. (EDC) 55 Chapel Street Newton, MA 02458 USA

Amatavivat Duriya Bureau of International Cooperation Ministry of Education Rajdamnern Avenue Bangkok 10300 Thailand

Acena Mary Carmen Minister of Education 6a Calle 1-87 zona 10 Guatemala CA-01010 Guatemala Tel: +2 03 544 1530 E-mail: <u>mabolfotouh@yahoo.commabolfotouh</u>

Tel. +1 617 618 2362 E-mail: <u>caldinger@edc.org</u>

Tel.: + 66 2 6285646 E-mail: <u>duriyaa@hotmail.com</u>

Tel.: +502 2 360 0911 E-mail: Bonito R. Sheila University of the Philippines Open University UPOU Manila Learning Center 1663 Benitez Street, Philippine Nurses Association Building, Malate Manila 1004 Philippines

Bruce P. Damons Principal, Sapphire Road Primary c/o Sapphire & Coral Road Booysen Park Port Elizabeth South Africa

Bui Phuong Nga Ministry of Education and Training Viet Nam

Buijs Goof Coordinator NIGZ School Programme P.O.Box 500 3440 AM Woerden The Netherlands

Bundy Donald School Health and Nutrition World Bank 1818 H Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20433 USA

Burgess Lesley Regional Nutritionist Health Promotion Division Eastern Health P.O. Box 13122 3rd Floor Viking Building St. John's, NL, A1B 4A4 Canada

Bush Mary Office of Nutrition Policy & Promotion Health Canada Qualicum Tower A 2936 Baseline Rd., 3rd Floor Ottawa, ON K1A 0K9 A.L. 3303D Canada Tel: +632 523 1633 E-mail: <u>sbonito@upou.org</u>

Tel: +27 41 483 1878 E-mail: <u>bpdamons@vodamail.co.za</u>

Tel.: +84 4 82 12 112 E-mail: <u>bpnga112@yahoo.com</u>

Tel: +31 348437615 E-mail: <u>gbuijs@nigz.nl</u>

Tel: +1 202 473 3636 E-mail: <u>Dbundy@worldbank.org</u>

Tel.: +1 709 752 4422 Email: <u>lesley.burgess@easternhealth.ca</u>

Tel.: +1 613 957 8330 E-mail: <u>mary_bush@hc-sc.gc.ca</u> Campello Giovanna United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime Global Youth Network Vienna International Centre P.O. Box 500 A-1400 Vienna Austria

Tel.: +431 260 604 244 E-mail: giovanna.campello@unodc.org

Cheng Frances Centre for Health Education/Health Promotion School of Public Health The Chinese University of Hong Kong 4/F Lek Yuen Health Center 9, Lek Yuen Street, Shatin, NT Hong Kong, China

Cheong-Lim Lee Yee Pre-School & Primary School Outreach Health Promotion Board 3 Second Hospital Avenue Singapore 168937 Singapore

Cossa Odete Moises Mozambique IPPFARO, Madison Insurance House 1st Floor, Ngong/Upper Hill Road P.O. Box 30234 - 00100, Nairobi Kenya

Cropley Lorelei D. Department of Educational Leadership Counselling and Foundations Education Building, Room 348 University of New Orleans New Orleans, LA 70148-2515 USA

De Villiers Anniza Chronic Diseases of Lifestyle Unit Medical Research Council P.O. Box 19070 Tygerberg 7505 South Africa Tel.: +852 2693 3074 E-mail: <u>fcheng@cuhk.edu.hk</u>

Tel.: + 65 6435 3706 E-mail: <u>cheong-lim_lee_yee</u> @hpb.gov.sg

Tel: +25 882 393 2176 E-mail: <u>odetecossa@yahoo.com</u>

Tel.: +1 504 280 7386 E-mail: <u>LCropley@uno.edu</u>

Tel.: +27 21 938 0423 E-mail: <u>Anniza.De.Villiers@mrc.ac.za</u> Doiron Joe Senior Policy Analyst Healthy Living Unit Healthy Communities Division Centre for Health Promotion Public Health Agency of Canada 48 Craigburn Drive Dartmouth, NS, B2X 2S3 Canada

Drake Lesley Partnership for Child Development Imperial College School of Medicine St Mary's Campus, Norfolk Place London W2 1PG UK

Duhamel Paul-Guy Ordre Professionnel Diététistes du Québec 2155 rue Guy, bureau 1220 Montréal, Québec, H3H 2R9 Canada

Ellis Ann Nutrition Advisor, Health Canada Office of Nutrition Policy and Promotion Health Products and Food Branch Health Canada Qualicum Tower A 2936 Baseline Road, 3rd Floor Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0K9 Canada

Futter-Puati Debi Ministry of Education P.O. Box 3205 Rarotonga Cook Islands

Gordon Ross Institute for Social Marketing University of Stirling & The Open University Room 3b26, Cottrell Building Stirling, FK9 4LA UK Tel: (902) 433-1550 E-mail: joe_doiron@phac-aspc.gc.ca

Tel: +44 207 594 3262 E-mail: <u>lesley.drake@imperial.ac.uk</u>

Tel.: + 1 514 393 3733 E-mail: <u>pgduhamel@opdq.org</u>

Tel.: +1 613 952 7237 Email: ann ellis@hc-sc.gc.ca

Tel: +68 224 242 E-mail: <u>debnjay@oyster.net.ck</u>

Tel.: +44 178 646 6457 E-mail: <u>ross.gordon@stir.ac.uk</u> Griffin Sandra National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health University of Northern British Columbia 333 University Way Prince George, BC V2N 4Z9, Canada

Hoang Khanh Chi Ha Noi School of Public Health 138 Giang Vo Ha Noi Vietnam

Hoffmann Anna Maria HIV/AIDS and Life Skills Education Education Section (PD) UNICEF, 3 UN Plaza New York, NY 10017 USA

Huerta Francisco Montalvo Executive Director Convenio Andres Bello c/o Melissa Anzola Sanchez Assitente Secretaria Ejecutiva Apartado Aereo : 53435 Avenida 13 No. 85-60 – Bogota – Columbia

Ji Chengye Institute of Child and Adolescent Health School of Public Health Peking University Health Science Center, Room 247 38# Xueyuan Road, Haidian District Beijing 100083 China, PR

Kelishadi Roya Isfahan University of Medical Sciences Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center P.O. Box 81465-1148 Isfahan Iran

LeBlanc Claire M.A. Pediatric Rheumatology and Sport Medicine Stollery Children's Hospital Edmonton, Alberta 4000 McBean St., Richmond ON K0A 2Z0 Canada Tel.: +1 250 960 5986 E-mail: <u>griffi1@unbc.ca</u>

Tel.: + E-mail: <u>hkc@hsph.edu.vn</u>

Tel: +1 212 326 7433 E-mail: amhoffmann@unicef.org

Tel.: 64499292 Ext. 211 E-mail: <u>manzola@cab.int.co</u>

Tel.: +86 10 8280 1524 E-mail: jichengye@263.net

Tel.: +98 311 3377881 E-mail: Kelishadi@med.mui.ac.ir

Tel.: +1 613 838 2442 E-mail: <u>docclaire@sympatico.ca</u> Lee Albert Family Medicine Unit Department of Community and Family Medicine 4/Floor, School of Public Health Prince of Wales Hospital, Shatin, N.T. Hong Kong, China

Littlejohns Lori Baugh Lori Baugh Littlejohns Consulting 93 McCullough Crescent Red Deer, Alberta, T4R 1S5 Canada

Kelly MacDonald Senior Policy Advisor Policy and Programs Branch Ministry of Education 15th Floor, Mowat Block 900 Bay Street Toronto, Ontario M7A 1L2

Maclure Richard Faculty of Education University of Ottawa, 145 Jean-Jacques Lussier Ottawa, K1N 6N5 Canada

Mak Kwo-Hang Directorate of Health Student Health Service 4/F Lam Tin Polyclinic 99 Kai Tin Road Kwun Tong, Hong Kong, China

Mantilla Leonardo C. PROINAPSA Carrera 8 No. 49-25 Consultorio 705, Bogotá Colombia, D.C.

Mawani Lisa Centre for Health Promotion Public Health Agency of Canada 200 Eglantine Driveway Jeanne Mance Building, AL: 1908D Tunney's Pasture, Ottawa, ON, K1A 0K9 Canada Tel.: +852 22528783 E-mail: <u>alee@cuhk.edu.hk</u>

Tel.: +1 403 318 2318 Email: <u>lobali@telus.net</u>

Tel: 416-325-2728 kelly.macdonald@ontario.ca

Tel.: +1 613 562 5800 ext. 4034 E-mail: <u>rmaclure@uottawa.ca</u>

Tel.: +852 2349 6737 E-mail: <u>drkhmak@dh.gov.hk</u>

Tel: +57 122 19 621 E-mail: <u>lmantilla@cable.net.co</u>

Tel.: +1 613 946 3588 E-mail: Lisa Mawani@phac-aspc.gc.ca McCall Douglas International School Health Network Canadian School Health Centre University of Victoria University House 3, Box 3060 STV CSC Victoria, British Columbia, V8W 3R4 Canada

McGeorge Sonia Co-director BHF National Centre for Physical Activity & Health School of Sport & Exercise Sciences Loughborough University Loughborough Leics. LE11 3TU Canada Tel: +1 250 483 6988 E-mail: <u>dmccall@cash-aces.ca</u>

Tel.: +1 444 892050 E-mail: <u>S.M.Mcgeorge@lboro.ac.uk</u>

McKenna Mary Associate Professor Faculty of Kinesiology UNB, 2 Peter Kelly Drive Fredericton, NB E3B 5A3 Canada

Meresman Sergio Scholar Europubhealth Escuela Andaluza de Salud Pública Campus Universitario de Cartuja Cuesta del Observatorio, 4 Ap. Correos 2070 - Granada 18080 -Spain

Mohammadi Nastaran Keshavaraz Gazvin Medical Sciences University, Iran c/o University of Sydney 1/80 A Johnston Street Sydney Australia

Mo-Suwan Ladda Department of Pediatrics Faculty of Medicine Prince of Songkla University Hat Yai, Songkhla 90112 Thailand

Nutbeam Don Edward Ford Building (A27) Tel.: +1 506 451 6872 E-mail: <u>mmckenna@unb.ca</u>

Tel.: + 34 958 027566 E-mail: <u>sergiom@chasque.net</u>

Tel: +2 9572 7498 E-mail: <u>nastarank@health.usyd.edu.au</u>

Tel.: + 66 74 212070 9 E-mail: ladda.m@psu.ac.th University of Sydney Sydney NSW 2006 Australia

Onyango-Ouma Washington Institute of Anthropology and Gender Studies University of Nairobi P.O. BOX 30197 Nairobi 00100 Kenya

Paulus Peter Institut für Psychologie Universität Lüneburg Scharnhorststrasse 1 D-21335 Lüneburg Germany

Rasheed Hussain Mossa School Health Coordinator Ministry of Education Male, Maldives

Rezende Regiane Quadra 706 Sul Alameda 10 casa 49 Palmas - TO, CEP: 77000 000 Brazil

Robinson Faye 103 Galgate, Barnard Castle County Durham, DL12 8ES England

Rowling Louise INTERCAMHS International Alliance for Child and Adolescent Mental Health and Schools University of Sydney 2006 Australia

Salinas Judith Department of Health Promotion Ministry of Health Mac Iver 541, 5to piso, Oficina 521 Santiago Chile

Clara Santamaria Convenio Andres Bello Tel: +61 2 9036 5027 E-mail: <u>d.nutbeam@usyd.edu.au</u>

Tel.: +254 20 444 9004 E-mail: <u>onyango.ouma@uonbi.ac.ke</u>

Tel.: +49 4131 677 1702 E-mail: <u>paulus@uni-lueneburg.de</u>

Tel.: +960 334 1455 E-mail: <u>hussain@edc.edu.mv</u>

Tel: +55 633 214 1217 E-mail: <u>rezenderegiane@yahoo.com.br</u>

Tel: +44 183 363 7708 E-mail: <u>fayerobinson103@msn.com</u>

Tel.: + 612 9713 6745 E-mail: <u>l.rowling@edfac.usyd.edu.au</u>

Tel: +562 630 0570 E-mail: jsalinas@minsal.gov.cl c/o Melissa Anzola Sanchez Assitente Secretaria Ejecutiva Apartado Aereo : 53435 Avenida 13 No. 85-60 – Bogota Columbia

St. Leger Lawrence School of Health and Social Development Faculty of Health, Medicine, Nursing and Behavioural Sciences, Deakin University 221 Burwood Highway Burwood 3125 Australia

Stone Kelly Director Division of Childhood & Adolescence Address: AL 1909C2 Tunney's Pasture, Ottawa ON K1A 0K9 Canada

Swati Parmar HRIDAY-SHAN C-1/52, Safdarjung Development Area New Delhi-110016 India

Tayel Kholoud School and University Health High Institute of Public Health Alexandria University Egypt

Thanarajah Sarojini Deputy Director Resource Development & WHOCC Health Promotion Board 3 Second Hospital Avenue Singapore 168937 Singapore

Torranin Charuaypon Permanent Secretary of Education Ministry of Education Rajdamnern Avenue Bangkok 10300, Thailand

Unkovska Lina Kostarova

Tel.: 64499292 Ext. 211 E-mail: <u>manzola@cab.int.co</u>

Tel: +61 3 9802 5088 E-mail: <u>lawrence.stleger@deakin.edu.au</u>

Tel: +1 613 952 0771 Kelly Stone@phac-aspc.gc.ca

Tel.: +91 11 2685 0342 E-mail: <u>swati@hriday-shan.org.in</u>

Tel.: + 203 3828686 E-mail: <u>kholoudtayel@yahoo.com</u>

Tel.: + 65 6435 3956 E-mail: Sarojini_THANARAJAH@hpb.gov.sg

Tel: + 2280 4272 E-mail: torranin@yahoo.com Center for Psychosocial and Crisis Action, Bul. Partizanski Odredi, 23/1-3 1000 Skopje Republic of Macedonia

Vasconcellos Ana Beatriz Secretariat of Health Care Attention Primary Care Department Coordination on Food and Nutrition Policy SEPN 511, bloco C, 4. o andar Unidade III, Ed. Bittar IV 70750-543 Brasilia - DF Brazil

Vijaya K. Health Promotion Board 3 Second Hospital Avenue Singapore 168937 Singapore

Wechsler Howell Division of Adolescent and School Health Centers for Disease Control 4770 Buford Hwy. N.E., MS K-29 Atlanta GA 30341-3724 USA

Whitman Cheryl Vince Education Development Center 55 Chapel Street Newton, MA, 02458-1060 USA

Young Ian NHS Health Scotland Woodburn House Canaan Lane Edinburgh EH10 4SG Scotland Tel: + 389 2 3298 238 E-mail: <u>info@cpca.org.mk</u>

Tel.: + E-mail: ana.vasconcellos@saude.gov.br

Tel.: + 65 6435 3556 E-mail: <u>Vijaya_K@hpb.gov.sg</u>

Tel.: + E-mail: <u>HAW7@CDC.GOV</u>

Tel: +1 617 618 2300 E-mail: <u>cvincewhitman@edc.org</u>

Tel: +44 131 536 5500 E-mail: <u>ian.young@health.scot.nhs.uk</u>

SATELLITE MEETING - "DPAS: A School Policy Framework"

Aldinger Carmen Health and Human Development Global Programs (HHD) Education Development Center, Inc. (EDC) 55 Chapel Street Newton, MA 02458 USA

Ellis Ann Nutrition Advisor, Health Canada Office of Nutrition Policy and Promotion Health Products and Food Branch Health Canada Qualicum Tower A 2936 Baseline Road, 3rd Floor Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0K9 Canada

Aubrey Louise Division of Childhood and Adolescence Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention Branch Public Health Agency of Canada 200 Eglantine Driveway, AL 1909C2 Ottawa, ON Canada

De Bruin Tilly Surveillance and Population Based Prevention World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

De Villiers Anniza Chronic Diseases of Lifestyle Unit Medical Research Council P.O. Box 19070 Tygerberg 7505 South Africa

Doiron Joe Healthy Living Unit Centre for Health Promotion Public Health Agency of Canada 48 Craigburn Drive Dartmouth, NS, B2X 2S3 Canada Tel. +1 617 618 2362 E-mail: <u>caldinger@edc.org</u>

Tel.: +1 613 952 7237 Email: <u>ann_ellis@hc-sc.gc.ca</u>

Tel: +1 613 946 0248 E-mail: Louise Aubrey@hc-sc.gc.ca

Tel.: +41 22 791 3235 E-mail: <u>debruinm@who.int</u>

Tel.: +27 21 938 0423 E-mail: <u>Anniza.De.Villiers@mrc.ac.za</u>

Tel: (902) 433-1550 E-mail: joe_doiron@phac-aspc.gc.ca` Ji Chengye Institute of Child and Adolescent Health School of Public Health Peking University Health Science Center, Room 247 38# Xueyuan Road, Haidian District Beijing 100083 China, PR

Kelishadi Roya Isfahan University of Medical Sciences Isfahan Cardiovascular Research Center P.O. Box 81465-1148 Isfahan Iran Tel.: +86 10 8280 1524 E-mail: jichengye@263.net

Tel.: +98 311 3377881 E-mail: <u>Kelishadi@med.mui.ac.ir</u>

LeBlanc Claire M.A. Pediatrician Pediatric Rheumatology and Sport Medicine Stollery Children's Hospital Edmonton, Alberta 4000 McBean St. Richmond ON K0A 2Z0 Canada

Mawani Lisa Healthy Living Unit Healthy Communities Division Centre for Health Promotion Public Health Agency of Canada 200 Eglantine Driveway Jeanne Mance Building, AL: 1908D Tunney's Pasture Ottawa, ON, K1A 0K9 Canada

McGeorge Sonia Co-director BHF National Centre for Physical Activity & Health School of Sport & Exercise Sciences Loughborough University Loughborough Leics. LE11 3TU Canada

McKenna Mary Associate Professor Faculty of Kinesiology UNB, 2 Peter Kelly Drive Fredericton, NB E3B 5A3 Canada Tel.: +1 613 838 2442 E-mail: <u>docclaire@sympatico.ca</u>

Tel.: +1 613 946 3588 E-mail: <u>Lisa_Mawani@phac-aspc.gc.ca</u>

Tel.: +1 444 892050 E-mail: <u>S.M.Mcgeorge@lboro.ac.uk</u>

Tel.: +1 506 451 6872 E-mail: mmckenna@unb.ca Mo-Suwan Ladda Department of Pediatrics Faculty of Medicine Prince of Songkla University Hat Yai, Songkhla 90112 Thailand

St. Leger Lawrence School of Health and Social Development Faculty of Health, Medicine, Nursing and Behavioural Sciences, Deakin University 221 Burwood Highway Burwood 3125 Australia Tel.: + 66 74 212070 9 E-mail: <u>ladda.m@psu.ac.th</u>

Tel: +61 3 9802 5088 E-mail: <u>lawrence.stleger@deakin.edu.au</u>

Stone Kelly Director Division of Childhood & Adolescence Address: AL 1909C2 Tunney's Pasture, Ottawa ON K1A 0K9 Canada

Uusitalo Ulla Technical Officer Nutrition for Health and Development World Health Organization Avenue Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

Walsh Patricia Manager, Strategic Policy and Research Division of Childhood and Adolescence Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention Branch Public Health Agency of Canada 200 Eglantine Driveway, AL 1909C2 Ottawa, ON Canada Tel: +1 613 952 0771 Kelly_Stone@phac-aspc.gc.ca

Tel.: 41 22 791 3879 E-mail: <u>uusitalou@who.int</u>

Tel: +1 613 941 0970 E-mail: <u>Patricia Walsh@phac-aspc.gc.ca</u>

JOINT CONSORTIUM FOR SCHOOL HEALTH

Aubrey Louise Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention Branch Public Health Agency of Canada 200 Eglantine Driveway, AL 1909C2 Ottawa, ON Canada

Avison Claire Executive Director Joint Consortium for School Health 620 Superior St. 5th Flr. Victoria, BC V8W 9H3 Canada

Tanya Bemis Manager, Healthy Schools Ministry of Education PO Box 9161 Stn Prov Govt Victoria, BC V8W 9H3 Canada

Carter Emma Joint Consortium for School Health 620 Superior St. 5th Floor Victoria, BC V8W 9H3 Canada

Cassels Kathy Executive Director DASH BC Directorate of Agencies for School Health 108th Avenue, Surrey British Columbia V4N 5H9 Canada

Gregson Carol Health Promotion Specialist Dept of Health & Social Services Nunavut X0A 0H0 Canada Hoult Heather Director, Health Promoting Schools BC Ministry of Education / Ministry of Health P.O. Box 9159 , Stn Prov Govt Victoria, BC V8W 9H3 Canada Tel: +1 613 946 0248 E-mail: Louise_Aubrey@hc-sc.gc.ca

Tel.: +1 250 356 6760 E-mail: <u>claire.avison@gov.bc.ca</u>

Tel.: +1 250 356-8736 Email: Tanya.Bemis@gov.bc.ca

Tel.: +1 250 356 6057 E-mail: <u>Emma.Carter@gov.bc.ca</u>

Tel.: +1 604 583 1114 E-mail: <u>kcassels@dashbc.org</u>

Tel.: +1 867 975 5746 E-mail: <u>CGregson@gov.nu.ca</u>

Tel: +1 250 356 0194 E-mail: <u>Heather.Hoult@gov.bc.ca</u> MacFarlane Paige Assistant Deputy Minister Partnership and Planning Division Ministry of Education PO Box 9161 Stn Prov Govt Victoria, BC V8W 9H3 Canada

McKay Marlien Manager, Wellness New Brunswick Dept Wellness, Culture & Sport Place 2000, 250 King Steet Fredericton, NB E3B 5H1 Canada

Oswald Carolanne Manager, Partnerships and Initiatives Joint Consortium for School Health P.O. Box 9159 Stn Prov. Govt Victoria, BC, V8W 9H3 Canada

Provo Dwayne School Health Coordinator Education & Health Promotion & Protection P.O. Box 578 2021 Brunswick Street Halifax, NS B3J 2S9 Canada

Rocan Claude Director General Centre for Health Promotion Public Health Agency of Canada 130 Colonnade Road A.L. 6501H, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0K9 Canada

Walsh Patricia Division of Childhood and Adolescence Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention Branch Public Health Agency of Canada 200 Eglantine Driveway, AL 1909C2 Ottawa, ON Canada Tel: 250 356 5977 Cell: 250 415 7545 Paige.MacFarlane@gov.bc.ca

Tel.: +1 506 444 4633 E-mail: <u>marlien.mckay@gnb.ca</u>

Tel.: +1 250 387 5479 Email: <u>Carolanne.Oswald@gov.bc.ca</u>

Tel: +1 902 424 6153 E-mail: <u>provoda@gov.ns.ca</u>

Tel.: +1 613 957 7792 E-mail: <u>Claude_Rocan@phac-aspc.gc.ca</u>

Tel: +1 613 941 0970 E-mail: <u>Patricia Walsh@phac-aspc.gc.ca</u>

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION

Arnaout Said Regional Adviser Health of Special Groups WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean P.O.Box 1517 Alexandria 21563 Egypt

Tel: +20 2 2765380 E-mail: <u>arnaouts@emro.who.int</u>

De Bruin Tilly Technical Officer Surveillance and Population Based Prevention World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

Galvao Luiz Manager Sustainable Development and Environmental Health Area Pan American Health Organization 525 23 rd. Street N.W. Washington, D.C. 20037-2895 USA

Guerrero Eduardo Chief Health Determinants and Social Policy Unit Pan American Health Organization 525 23 rd. Street N.W. Washington, D.C. 20037-2895 USA

Heckert Karen A. Regional Adviser Health Promotion WHO Western Pacific Regional Office Manila Philippines

Joukhadar Adul-Halim Regional Adviser Health Education and Promotion WHO/Eastern Mediterranean Regional Office P.O. Box 7608, Nasr City, Cairo 11371 Egypt Tel.: +41 22 791 3235 E-mail: <u>debruinm@who.int</u>

Tel.: +1 202 974 3798 E-mail: <u>galvaolu@paho.org</u>

Tel.: +1 202 974 3798 E-mail: <u>guerrero@paho.org</u>

Tel: +63 2 528 9854 E-mail: <u>heckertk@wpro.who.int</u>

Tel: +202 27 65 383 E-mail: joukhadara@emro.who.int Morales Sofialeticia Senior Adviser, Millennium Development Goals Pan American Health Organization 525 23 rd. Street N.W. Washington, D.C. 20037-2895 USA

Munodawafa Davison Regional Adviser Health Promotion & Education (HPE) WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia Indraprastha Estate Mahatma Gandhi Marg New Delhi - 110 002 India Tel: +1 202 974 3106 E-mail: <u>moraless@paho.org</u>

Tel: +1 337 0804 Ext 26522 E-mail: <u>munodawafad@searo.who.int</u>

Tang Kwok-Cho Senior Professional Officer Chronic Diseases and Health Promotion World Health Organization Avenue Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

Uusitalo Ulla Technical Officer Nutrition for Health and Development World Health Organization Avenue Appia 20 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland Tel: +41 22 791 3299 E-mail: <u>tangc@who.int</u>

Tel.: 41 22 791 3879 E-mail: <u>uusitalou@who.int</u>

Appendix Three - List of chairpersons

Opening Keynote Session and Presentations: Franscico Huerta

Track 1 – Evidence

Plenary: Mostafa Abolfotouh Session 1: Iran & Chile - Davison Mundawafa Session 2: EMRO & China - Cheong-Lim Lee Yee Session 3: Social Disaggregated Data - Lina Kostarova Unkovska

Track 2 - Implementation

Plenary: Sergio Meresman Session 1: Germany - Sheila Bonito Session 2: Uruguay - Rasheed Hussain Session 3: Kenya - Albert Lee Session 4: Cook Islands - Bruce Damons

Track 3 – Alleviating Social and Economic Disadvantage

Plenary: Cossa Odete Session 1: Low Income Countries & Schools as engines for development – Dwayne Provo Session 2: Low Income Communities – Lori Littlejohns Session 3: Post Conflict and Natural Diasters - Kholoud Tayel

Track 4 - Media

Plenary: Claire Avison Session 1: Regulations & Legislation – KH Mak Session 2: Media Literacy - Patricia Walsh Session 3: Health Literacy – Karen Heckert

Track 5 - Partnerships

Plenary: Charuaypon Torranin Session 1: FRESH - Heather Hoult Session 2: Nutrition Friendly Schools - Ulla Uusitalo